
 

 

 
EXECUTIVE 

 

Date: Friday 26th February, 2021 
Time: 1.00 pm 

Venue: Virtual Meeting 

 
AGENDA 

 

Please note: this is a virtual meeting. 
 
The meeting will be live-streamed via the Council’s Youtube 
channel at 1.00 pm on Friday 26th February, 2021 

 
 
1.   Apologies for Absence 

 
  

2.   Declarations of Interest 
 
To receive any declarations of interest. 

  

 
Executive Member for Environment  
 

 

3.   Improving Alleyways by Tackling Crime and Anti-Social 
Behaviour 

 3 - 14 

 
Executive Member for Regeneration  
 

 

4.   Future Development of Middlehaven 
 

 15 - 58 

5.   Any other urgent items which in the opinion of the Chair, may 
be considered. 
 
 

  

 
Charlotte Benjamin 
Director of Legal and Governance Services 

 
Town Hall 
Middlesbrough 
Thursday 18 February 2021 
 
 
 

Page 1

https://www.youtube.com/user/middlesbroughcouncil
https://www.youtube.com/user/middlesbroughcouncil


 

MEMBERSHIP 
 
A Preston (The Mayor) (Chair), Councillors D Davison, A High, C Hobson, D McCabe, 
M Smiles and A Waters 
 
Assistance in accessing information 
 
Should you have any queries on accessing the Agenda and associated information 
please contact Chris Lunn / Georgina Moore, 01642 729742 / 01642 729711, 
chris_lunn@middlesbrough.gov.uk / georgina_moore@middlesbrough.gov.uk 
 

Page 2



1 

MIDDLESBROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 

Report of: Director of Environment and Community Services: Geoff Field 

Executive Member for Environment: Cllr Dennis McCabe 

Executive Member for Communities and Education: Cllr Mieka Smiles 

 

Submitted to: Executive – 23 February 2021 

 

Subject: Improving Alleyways by Tackling Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour 

 
Summary 

 

Report for: Key 

decision: 

Confidential: Is the report urgent?1 

Decision Yes, impacts 

two or more 

wards 

No No 

 

Contribution to delivery of the 2018-22 Strategic Plan 

Business  Place People 

The proposal will provide an 

opportunity to improve 

service delivery by 

strengthening a collaborative 

approach and removing 

duplication across services. 

The approach will have a 

focus on meeting legal and 

governance requirements.    

The Proposal impacts 

directly on the Councils 

Physical Regeneration 

strategic objectives. By 

investigating and removing 

Fly Tips as one operation. 

The proposal has a 

significant contribution to 

make to Locality Working 

and our social regeneration 

strategy. The new model will 

also provide a focus on a 

‘neighbourhood’ working 

with local communities and 

key partners. 

 

Ward(s) affected 

The proposal impacts across all wards 

                                                           
1 Remove for non-Executive reports 

Proposed decision(s) 

 
That Executive agrees to: 
 

a. Additional capital funding of £400,000 cost of CCTV required. 
b. Note the new approach to dealing with fly tipping in Middlesbrough. 

 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



2 

 
 
What is the purpose of this report? 
 

2. The purpose of this report is to:  
 

a) Request that Executive approve additional funding of £400,000 to the wider 
development of CCTV in alleys and hot spot areas throughout Middlesbrough to 
reduce crime, antisocial behaviour and environmental crime.  

 
b) For Executive to note the change the approach to collection of fly tips and 

enforcement of offences across Middlesbrough via the introduction of an 
‘Environmental Enforcement Flying Squad’. This will mean fly tips will be investigated 
and removed in one pass by a dedicated team. 

 
Why does this report require a Member decision? 
 

3. The proposal affects more than two wards and therefore is considered a key decision 
requiring approval by the Executive. 

 
Report Background 
 

4. Crime and antisocial behaviour in Middlesbrough continues to be the highest in the 
whole of the Cleveland Police Force area. When looking at the actual number of 
incidents for the financial year 2019/20 and the year to date information for 2020/21 
Middlesbrough is 11% higher than Stockton which is 2nd highest. The graph below 
Figure 1.0 shows the number of crime and ASB incidents per 1,000 population to give 
you a visual indication of the current situation.  

 
Figure 1.0 

 
 

 
 
When looking at ward level data you can see from figure 1.1 that TS1 has the highest 
number of recorded incidents.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 4



3 

Figure 1.1 
Combined Crime and ASB 

1st April 2019 to 31st March 2020 compared with 1st April 2020 to 31st January 2021 (YTD) 

 
 

 
5. The Council received 4,168 complaints of fly tipping between 1st April to 31st March 

2018/19 this fell slightly to 3,746 in 2019/20 however when looking at the data for the 
incomplete year (1st April 2020 to 31st December 2020) there has been an increase 
with 4,411 complaints received during this period. COVID-19 lockdown measures has 
had an impact on the 2020 figures. 

 
6. The below table shows number of incidents from Jan 2020 to Jan 2021, broken down 

by type: 
 

INCIDENT TYPE NUMBER REPORTED 

Public/staff reported Anti-Social Behaviour 573 

Police recorded Anti-Social Behaviour 10,490 

Fly-Tipping (with Evidence) 1,128 

Fly Tipping (without evidence of identity) 4,458 

Graffiti 107 

Needles and syringes 150 

TOTAL NUMBER OF ALL REPORTS 16,906 

 
7. We have a small team of 4 Neighbourhood Safety Wardens (Environmental) who 

respond to environmental crimes and take action to deal with people who fly tip. This 
includes educating people about how to appropriately dispose of waste, giving 
information on where and how they can do so legally and advising people of the 
consequence’s committing environmental crime. They also issue fixed penalty notices 
and where appropriate they produce a prosecution pack, take people to court and 
prosecute them for their actions. This team is supported by the wider Neighbourhood 
Safety Wardens who respond to low level crime working closely with Police colleagues 
and antisocial behaviour across Middlesbrough.  
 
 

Page 5



4 

8. The Police and Neighbourhood Safety Wardens respond to crime and antisocial 
behaviour every day and this is often informed by CCTV reports filled with historical 
activity from the incidents recorded the previous day. In addition to this they also 
benefit from direct contact with CCTV operatives who communicate live information 
from the scene so that officers can respond in real time.  

 

9. Placing CCTV in strategic position to cover the alleys and other hot spot areas with the 

highest proportion of incidents relating to crime, ASB and environmental crime would 

provide the Council and partners with an opportunity to gather vital evidence that will 

enable the teams to tackle crime and ASB head on by taking more action against 

those who commit offences. The team will be able to take appropriate action and bring 

people to justice and the presence of the CCTV will act as a deterrent for some.  

 

10. A significant level of fly tipping takes place in areas with back alleys and the Council’s 
area care team remove the waste once the Wardens have examined the area or 
evidence. If we are going to impact on this increasing trend we need to find a way of 
gathering more evidence that will allow us to take action and deter people from 
committing these offences and remove the waste at the same time.  
 

11. A partially completed mapping exercise has determined that we have in excess of 300 
alleys across Middlesbrough (likely to be nearer to 500) and these are being mapped 
using GIS.   
 

12. A detailed analysis of the data is set out below to indicate where the majority of 

incidents have taken place 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 6



5 

 

13. The £400,000 would enable the team to install 100 cameras in key areas identified 

using an intelligence led approach based on recorded Police and LA data.  

 

14. In conjunction with the use of CCTV cameras the council may explore with areas 
covered by back alleys giving residents individual bins and removing communal bins. 
This will allow residents to take more control of their waste. A pilot scheme is at 
present underway in parts of North Ormesby. Following an examination of the results 
of this a more wider approach may be implemented. 

 
15. The proposed ‘Environmental Enforcement Flying Squad’ would enable the Council to 

improve the aesthetics of Middlesbrough and in turn improve quality of life for 
residents who are blighted by such activity. This will mean fly tips will be investigated 
and removed in one pass by a dedicated team consisting of 8 personnel, 4x 
Neighbourhood Safety Wardens (Enforcement) trained on current legislation and able 
to bring prosecution, 4x Area Care Operatives to work alongside officers to assist 
clearing the fly-tip/rubbish and 4x bespoke caged vehicles. 
 

16. The proposal will improve public confidence, deter people from committing crime and 
antisocial behaviour via the presence of more CCTV and ensure that fly tips are 
collected in a timely manner and in turn reducing the amount of time debris is left in 
the alleys, streets, walkways etc. for the public to see and therefore should go a long 
way to raising the profile of Middlesbrough over time. 

 
What decision(s) are being asked for?  
 

a. Request that Executive approve additional funding of £400,000 to the wider 
development of CCTV in alleys and hot spot areas throughout Middlesbrough to 
reduce crime, antisocial behaviour and environmental crime.  
 

b. To note the change the approach to collection of fly tips and enforcement of 
offences across Middlesbrough. This will mean fly tips will be investigated and 
removed in one pass by a dedicated team. 
 

c. That the Executive note the pilot of replacing communal bins with individual 
bins in parts of North Ormesby and note its potential for further use, if it is 
deemed successful in other areas of the town.  

 
Why is this being recommended? 
 
17. To enable the team to meet strategic and Mayoral priorities to tackle crime and ASB 

head on 
 

18. CCTV would enable the team to gather intelligence on the worst affected areas, 
increasing the opportunity of a successful prosecution of perpetrators. 
 

19.  The proposed approach would join up environmental and enforcement teams and 
align to the locality working model.  

 
Other potential decisions and why these have not been recommended 
 
20. Continuing to do what we have always done will result in getting what we have always 

got and the data suggests that the current approach is not achieving the best possible 
results.  

Page 7



6 

 
Legal 

 
21. Privacy Impact assessment would need to be carried out in line with the Information 

Commissioners Office Guidance. 
 

22. There are no legal implications regarding use of CCTV in proposed/identified locations 
due to the fact that an intelligence led approach has been used to justify the 
proposals.   

 
Financial 
 
23. There will be no additional cost for the 8 staff required as this will come from current 

resource throughout ECS 
 

24. The cost of 100 CCTV instillations will cost ~ £400,000 
 

Policy Framework 
 
25. The report sets out a proposal in accordance with the Council’s approach to the 

delivery of efficient services. 
 

Equality and Diversity 
 

26. An Impact Assessment has been carried out. 
 

Risk 
 
27. The risk is that if the proposal is not accepted then we will continue to see crime, ASB 

and environment crime increase throughout Middlesbrough. 
 

Environmental 
 

28. If the proposal is agreed there will be a number of environmental benefits: 
 

 There would be visibly reduced Fly tipping across the town, 
 a reduction in pest related incidents as the rubbish would be removed in 

a timely manner, 
 a better quality of life for residents living in areas blighted by such crime, 
 reduced number of incidents of deliberate fires, 
 reduced risk of land contamination 

 
Actions to be taken to implement the decision(s) 
 
29. A service review will be undertaken to re-address the balances of required resources. 

As part of the review, teams will be allocated specific areas of operation and work-
streams. 

 
30. Once the team is established, a Communication, Marketing & Education campaign will 

be undertaken informing residents of the changes and how they can report incidents 
and assist the initiative 

 
 
 

Page 8



7 

Appendices 
 
31. Equality impact assessment. 

 
Contact: Marion Walker Head of Stronger Communities  
Email: marion_walker@middlesbrough.gov.uk  

Page 9

mailto:marion_walker@middlesbrough.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

Template for Impact Assessment Level 1: Initial screening assessment           
 

Subject of assessment: Improving Alleyways by Tackling Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour. 

Coverage: Service specific 

This is a decision relating to: 

 Strategy  Policy  Service  Function 

 Process/procedure  Programme  Project  Review 

 Organisational change  Other (please state) 

It is a: New approach:  Revision of an existing approach:  

It is driven by: Legislation:   Local or corporate requirements:  

P
age 11



 

Description: 

Insert short description, using the following as sub-headings: 

 Key aims, objectives and activities:  
Following a review into Anti-Social Behaviour and incidents of Fly Tipping in Middlesbrough. The aim is to set up a dedicated team whose 
main objective will be to concentrate on investigating and removing Fly Tips as one operation. Staff will be taken from current resource 
within ECS. 
The operation will ensure that fly tips are collected in a timely manner and in turn reduce the amount of time debris is left in the alleys, 
streets, walkways and other land. This will have a positive impact for the public and in turn will raise the profile of Middlesbrough over 
time. 
Funding is also being sought to add CCTV into the worst affected alleys and hot spot areas throughout Middlesbrough which would be a key 
and critical component of this initiative as this is where a large amount of environmental crime takes place.  
 
Statutory drivers (set out exact reference):  
There are statutory drivers on how we as an authority deal with litter and refuse: Please see further information on the following link: 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/litter-and-refuse-council-responsibilities-to-keep-land-clear#land-councils-must-keep-clear  
 
Installation of any new camera that are linked to Middlesbrough Council and the monitoring of open public spaces must be compliant with 
data protection act 2018 (GDPR) and comply with the ICO/ Home Office Surveillance Camera Code of Practice. All information can be found 
on the following link:  https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/surveillance-camera-code-of-practice 
 

 Differences from any previous approach:  
Prior to this initiative the Enforcement Team would visit the reported Environmental Crime and investigate the incident to ascertain if any 
evidence can be found. Following this task the job was then passed to Area Care or Highways out-of-hours team to remove the rubbish/Fly 
Tip. 
This change in approach will see Enforcement and Area Care/Environment Operatives come together as one team. There will be 8 
Operatives in total and 4 caged transit style vans (2 staff per van).  
Each team will operate within a dedicated area (with option to work in area to meet demand/workload). They will attend fly 
tipping/dumped rubbish, investigate and clear in one pass. 
This will have efficiencies as each job should only need to be visited once by one team and one vehicle, therefore more efficiency and less 
vehicle use. This in turn will also make a contribution to the Green Strategy with less vehicles/fuel used. 
 

 Key stakeholders and intended beneficiaries (internal and external as appropriate):  
The key stakeholder is MBC, members and Residents of Middlesbrough.  
 
Intended outcomes:  
This new way of working will reduce Environmental Crime, in turn raising living conditions and aesthetics of Middlesbrough. 

Live date: 1st February 2021. 

Lifespan: From 1st February 2021, for the foreseeable future. 

Date of next review: A review of numbers and the subsequent action/prosecutions will be reviewed every quarter from April 2021. 

P
age 12

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/litter-and-refuse-council-responsibilities-to-keep-land-clear#land-councils-must-keep-clear
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/surveillance-camera-code-of-practice


 

Screening questions 

Response 

Evidence 

No Yes Uncertain 

Human Rights 

Could the decision impact 
negatively on individual 
Human Rights as enshrined 
in UK legislation?*  

   
There are no concerns that the proposals could impact adversely on human rights. Evidence used to inform this assessment includes analysis 
of staff demographics, engagement to date with staff and analysis of current service provision. 

Equality 

Could the decision result in 
adverse differential impacts 
on groups or individuals with 
characteristics protected in 
UK equality law? Could the 
decision impact differently 
on other commonly 
disadvantaged groups?* 

   

The Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) requires that when exercising its functions the Councils must have due regard to the need to:- 
• Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited by or under this Act; 
• Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; and 
• Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. 
 
In having due regard to the need to advance equality of opportunity, the Council must consider, as part of a single equality duty: 
• Removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by persons who share a relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that 

characteristic; 
• Taking steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected characteristic that are different from the needs of people who 

do not share it; and 
• Encouraging people who share a protected characteristic to participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation is low. 

 
Service users – There should be no detrimental effect to Service users within this proposal. 
 
Staff - 8 staff are affected by the proposal. 
 
No staff within the scope of the review have declared that they have the disability protected characteristic on the Council’s HR system, 
however there are a number of staff within the review that have reasonable adjustments in place to manage long term health conditions.  
There are no concerns that the review could impact differently on these individuals because they hold this protected characteristic.  Evidence 
used to inform this assessment includes analysis of staff demographics, engagement to date with staff and analysis of current service 
provision. 
 
Evidence used to inform this assessment includes analysis of ASB / Fly-Tip data and service provision. 

Community cohesion 

Could the decision impact 
negatively on relationships 
between different groups, 
communities of interest or 
neighbourhoods within the 
town?* 

   Not applicable. There are no concerns that this proposal could have an impact on community cohesion. 

                                            
* Consult the Impact Assessment further guidance appendix for details on the issues covered by each of these broad questions prior to completion. 

P
age 13



 

Screening questions Response Evidence 

Next steps: 

 If the answer to all of the above screening questions is No then the process is completed. 

 If the answer of any of the questions is Yes or Uncertain, then a Level 2 Full Impact Assessment must be completed. 

 

Assessment completed by: Dale Metcalfe Head of Service: Marion Walker 

Date: 4 February 2021 Date: 4 February 2021 

 

 

P
age 14



1 

 

Report of: Director of Regeneration and Culture: Richard Horniman 

Executive Member for Regeneration: Cllr Ashley Waters  

 

Submitted to: Executive – 23 February 2021 

 

Subject: Future Development of Middlehaven   

 
Summary 

 

Report for: Key 

decision: 

Confidential: Is the report urgent?1 

Decision. Yes No No 

 

Contribution to delivery of the 2020-23 Strategic Plan 

People Place Business 

The development of new 

homes and commercial 

space in the area will 

contribute towards the urban 

living objectives in 

Middlesbrough’s Housing 

Growth Programme and 

Investing in Middlehaven will 

support the wider 

regeneration of the town, 

and the town centre and 

help create an attractive 

place to live, work and visit.   

The proposed development 

of new homes and 

commercial space at 

Middlehaven will generate 

significant additional Council 

Tax and Business Rates 

income to support the 

                                                           
 

MIDDLESBROUGH COUNCIL 
 

Proposed decision(s) 

That Executive approves: 
a. the appointment of BCEGI via NEPRO3 Framework as the Council’s strategic 

partner at Middlehaven; 
b. the development of a masterplan to be brought back to Executive for 

endorsement; 
c. reallocation of £3.9m of TVCA and Council resources freed up from the Boho 

X budget into the wider development of Middlehaven, with a further £1.5m 
returned to the Council’s Capital Programme; 

d. ringfencing the income generated from Boho X to supporting the wider 
development of Middlehaven; 

e. accepting the Brownfield Housing Fund offer of £7.9m from TVCA, subject to 
final sign off by the Director of Finance; 

f. commencing the infrastructure works identified through the Brownfield 
Housing Fund; 

g. committing up to £538,000 from the former Boho X funding to the stabilisation 
of the Captain Cook Pub.  

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



2 

increase the quality and 

quantity of employment 

opportunities available to 

residents. 

Council’s Medium Term 

Financial Plan. 

 

Ward(s) affected 

Central Ward 

 
What is the purpose of this report? 

1. The purpose of the report is to set out proposals for the future development of 
Middlehaven, and the steps required to take it forward. 

 
Why does this report require a Member decision? 
 
2. The proposal relates to appointment of a long-term development management 

arrangements, and utilisation of funding significantly in excess of £150k.  

Report Background 
 
3. Middlehaven is the key regeneration area in Middlesbrough, with the potential to 

transform the economic prospects of the town, and provide new communities for 
people to live in. Its proximity to, and influence on, the town centre makes it vitally 
important that the development of Middlehaven is taken forward successfully.  
 

4. The development of Middlehaven has been underway for some time, and is most 
notably home to the growing digital cluster within the Boho Zone. A number of 
attempts have been made in recent years to accelerate the speed and scale of the 
activity happening there, with varying degrees of success. These have generally been 
held back by a lack of available funding to undertake vital infrastructure works, and by 
the gap that exists in Middlesbrough (and most of the North East) between the cost of 
building new space, and the values achievable from it.  
 

5. Given that there is now a critical mass of development activity underway at 
Middlehaven, and interest from private sector developers is growing, this suggests that 
the opportunity to accelerate the development of Middlehaven is greater than ever. 
The current availability of significant external funding to deliver this acceleration, and 
address some of the commercial challenges requires the Council to take a number of 
significant steps to ensure the opportunity can be capitalised upon. 

 
Current Progress 
 
6. On top of the existing digital focused commercial hub within the Boho Zone, the 

following developments are either on site, or are financially and contractually 
committed: 

 
Boho 8 10,000 sq ft of new modular commercial 

space for the digital sector  
On site, and due for completion in 
March 21 

Bohouse North 40 new ‘live work’ properties for digital 
and creative professionals 

On site, and due for completion in 
May 21 

Boho Zero Refurbishment of commercial space at Virtually complete 

Page 16



3 

former Royal Middlehaven House 

Boho X 60,000 sq ft of Grade A commercial 
space for the digital sector 

Planning application submitted, 
and due on site in August 21 

Boho Bright Ideas 60 homes and apartments for families 
and young professionals  

Planning approved, and due on 
site in March 21 

Outward Riverside  
Academy 

900 place secondary school 
specialising in technology 

On site April 22 and complete 
September 23 

  
7. Alongside the above developments, option agreements are being negotiated with 

developers for a total of around 400 high quality town houses and apartments, and 
further commercial space.  

 
New Opportunities 

 
8. Alongside the announcements about the above developments, there are a number of 

new opportunities that need to be factored into any future plans for Middlehaven. 
These include: 

 
Snow Centre 

9. The option on Council owned land provided to the potential developers of a snow 
centre at Middlehaven lapsed in January 2021, bringing the prime development sites 
next to Middlesbrough College, and also around the south side of the dock back under 
the Council’s full control. As the snow centre development will not now be taken 
forward by the previous developers the opportunity exists to replan the future of those 
two sites, and seek alternative uses.  

 
10. A snow centre has been a key factor in previous plans for Middlehaven, the 

developers who secured the option on the site were ultimately unable to bring forward 
a commercially fundable scheme, or one that the public sector could support without 
risking tens of millions of pounds of taxpayers money over the lifetime of the project. It 
is therefore proposed that the role of these sites in the future development of 
Middlehaven be reconsidered in the context of the development of a strategic 
masterplan. 
 
Government Relocations 

11. Recent announcements by the Government have indicated that a number of Civil 
Service jobs will be relocated from London to the North East. Although this will be a 
highly competitive process, Middlehaven offers an excellent opportunity to relocate 
Government jobs, and as such this needs to be a feature of any strategy for 
Middlehaven – both now and in the future.  

 
External Funding 

12. Recent bids to the Government’s Future High Streets Fund, and Brownfield Land Fund 
have secured around £22m for Middlesbrough, and a further bid for £25m from the 
Town’s Fund is still to be announced. A significant proportion of these funds has been 
allocated to projects at Middlehaven that will need to be progressed quickly to adhere 
to funders timescales. These funds will enable the Council to invest in the 
infrastructure around Middlehaven, and close the financial gap on developments to 
make them commercially viable. Allied to existing funds secured, such as the 
Indigenous Growth Fund, the resources immediately available to make progress at 
Middlehaven are significant.  

 
 

Page 17



4 

 
Strategy 
 
13. The different investments and developments emerging at Middlehaven have the 

opportunity to make a significant difference to the area, and to the economy, but need 
to be planned in a coherent way. There is a danger of different schemes competing 
with each other, infrastructure requirements falling between the boundaries of different 
schemes, and the phasing of activity working against what the wider market can 
accommodate. There is therefore a need to have a clear, up to date strategic 
masterplan for developing Middlehaven, and for capitalising on the financial 
opportunities currently available.  

 
14. It is also necessary for the Council to work closely with the relevant development 

partner to be able to put the strategic masterplan into practice, and ensure that the 
available funding opportunities are not missed.  

 
15. This report sets out how the Council proposes to work in partnership with a strategic 

partner to develop the masterplan for developing Middlehaven, develop the necessary 
site infrastructure, and move into the delivery phase on multiple projects. 
 

Strategic Partner 
 

16. The role that is required of a strategic partner at Middlehaven would include: 
 

a. developing a strategic masterplan and phasing plan to ensure developments 
are brought forward in the right place at the right time; 

b. an infrastructure plan detailing the works required to deliver the masterplan, 
covering issues such as site preparation and designing the spaces between 
the individual red line boundaries of projects; 

c. bringing in the construction expertise to deliver the infrastructure works; and, 
d. taking forward individual developments either in partnership with other 

organisations, or independently to ensure momentum. 
 
17. The Council has worked closely with a company called BGEGI on the Boho X project, 

following their appointment as Development Manager on the scheme in 2019. BCEGI 
is an international property developer and construction company, specialising in bring 
projects to fruition through strategic partnerships and investment. Operating in 27 
countries, BCEGI is currently leading on billion pound projects such as Airport City and 
Middlewood Locks in Manchester.  

 
18. BCEGI were originally procured via the NEPO503 Neutral Vendor Managed Service 

for Specialist Professional Services (NEPRO3) framework and there is the ability to 
extend that engagement beyond Boho X, and into wider work at Middlehaven. As 
BCEGI clearly have both the development expertise, and financing that is required to 
take forward schemes like Middlehaven, this has been explored further, and a 
proposal is being prepared working with BLOOM as the framework supplier.  

 
19. It is proposed that via the NEPRO 3 Framework BCEGI be formally procured as the 

strategic partner for Middlesbrough Council. 
 
20. Responsibility for concluding the final agreement, in line with the role described above 

would be delegated to the Director of Finance. 

Page 18



5 

 
21. The boundary of the area proposed for the arrangement with BCEGI is included as 

Appendix I. 
 
Strategic Masterplan 

 
22. As identified above, there is a clear need to develop a strategic masterplan for the 

future development of Middlehaven that will show how the different elements will be 
taken forward in a coherent way, and phased to ensure developments are appropriate 
to market need.  

 
23. The masterplan would be used to guide investment decisions, prioritise projects and 

manage timelines for utilising external funding. It is intended that BCEGI would 
develop the masterplan, in conjunction with Council staff, to ensure that the transport 
infrastructure, public realm and heritage assets are built in to it.  

 
24. The masterplan would also drive the wider infrastructure requirements, and assist in 

the proactive prioritisation of works to the spaces in between the red lines around 
individual projects that can often be left to the Council to address afterwards.  

 
25. The development of a strategic masterplan does not signal a change of direction for 

Middlehaven, but needs to be prepared to ensure that the direction remains 
deliverable. Development of the plan would take around three months, and would be 
presented back to Executive to ensure the Council’s longer term buy-in. This is 
expected to be presented to Executive in the Summer.     

 
Funding 
 
26. The Council has secured access to a number of funds, for a range of projects across 

Middlehaven. Further funding is likely to be available through the Towns Fund if 
successful, but this report seeks to confirm the resources available, and to seek 
approval to progress a number of schemes that the funding is attached to.  

 
Future High Streets Fund / Town Fund 

 
27. A total of £14m has been secured through the Government’s Future High Streets 

Fund, for projects that will seek to diversify the centre of town, increase the urban 
living offer, and reduce the reliance on retail. An offer letter is anticipated in March, 
and an Executive report will follow in due course to set out the overall governance 
arrangements for the programme. 

 
28. A bid for a further £25m has been made to the Government’s Towns Fund, to further 

develop the urban living offer, build new commercial space, and develop the economy 
of the town. An announcement is expected in March.  

 
29. A significant proportion of the total secured across both funds (potentially up to £10m) 

would be directed towards Middlehaven projects, including the development of new 
housing, and commercial space. Funding is also included to contribute towards the 
restoration of the Old Town Hall and Captain Cook Pub. The exact figures, and project 
list won’t be confirmed until the outcome of the Towns Fund is known, and would be 
confirmed in subsequent Executive reports relating to both funds.  

 

Page 19



6 

 
Brownfield Housing Fund 

 
30. A further £7.9m has also been secured for Middlehaven from the Government’s 

Brownfield Housing Fund, distributed locally via TVCA, which would allow 
infrastructure works to be undertaken across the Middlehaven area. Five sites have 
been identified for infrastructure works, to enable them to be brought forward for urban 
living developments totalling 634 units, with the funding targeted at those sites where 
an abnormally high level of remediation, or preparatory work is preventing them 
coming forward.  

 
31. The sites identified as part of the Brownfield Housing Fund programme are as follows: 
 

Site Funding Outputs 

Boho Bright Ideas £0.65m 61 units 

Middlehaven PF £2.25m 215 units 

Northern Parcels £2.7m 188 units 

Boho Towers £1.4m 90 units 

Jap City  £0.9m 80 units 

Total £7.9m 634 units 

 
32. The funds allocated are to be spent during 2021 and 2022 on preparatory work, with 

developments on site by 2025. As the first wave of funding made available through the 
Brownfield Housing Fund has been delayed by the Government, undertaking the 
works in line with the revised timetable would be challenging, and would require the 
engagement of a major partner to undertake the work. It is proposed that BCEGI act 
as development manager on the programme, and support the Council in moving 
towards contractual arrangements for delivery. 

 
33. The funding offered is covered by a detailed agreement that sets out the risks, 

constraints and expectations of the funding, and the current version has been included 
as Appendix II. Although there is still significant negotiation to be undertaken on the 
terms, timing and deliverables, it is recommended that the Council accepts this 
funding, and that responsibility for entering into the final funding and delivery 
arrangements be delegated to the Director of Finance.  

 
34. As strategic partner, it is proposed that BCEGI would be responsible for taking forward 

development, and securing appropriate end users for the Middlehaven PF, Northern 
Parcels, Boho Towers and Jap City sites. The Boho Bright Ideas site is already 
contractually committed and as such would not be part of the agreement with BCEGI. 

 
35. All sites are identified on the plan included as Appendix I. 

 

TVCA Funding / Council Capital Programme 

36. The £30m funding package originally allocated to the Boho X and Boho 8 projects at 
Middlehaven comprised £26.2m from TVCA, and £3.8m from the Council’s Capital 
Programme, and other specific grants applicable to Middlehaven. As the revised plans 
for Boho X are costing less than originally proposed, a sum of £5.7m would potentially 
be released. It is proposed that £1.5m of this be returned to the Council’s Capital 
Programme, and the remaining £3.9m be made available to fund further development 
at Middlehaven. As the previous Executive approval identified the full £30m solely for 
Boho X and Boho 8, it is recommended that this approval be superseded to enable the 

Page 20



7 

£3.9m to be made available for the delivery of development at Middlehaven in line with 
the overall strategy for the area, and the conditions attached to any external funding.  
 
Income  
 

37. In line with the funding agreement governing its usage, any funding secured through 
the use of the TVCA funds should be utilised for the further development of 
Middlehaven. It is therefore proposed that resources secured through the letting of 
space in Boho X is also directed towards delivery of the proposed strategic masterplan 
developed in conjunction with BCEGI. It is anticipated that the annual income from a 
fully let Boho X could be up to £1m per year. 
 
Funding Summary 
 

38. The reallocation of funds from the revised Boho X scheme, the income from lettings 
within Boho X and the Brownfield Housing Fund would therefore all be directed 
towards the development of Middlehaven, in line with the proposed strategy. Further 
resources from the Future High Street Fund and Town’s Fund would also be applied to 
specific projects as part of the development of Middlehaven, once released through 
future Executive decisions.   

 
 Captain Cook Pub 

 
39. One immediate funding priority is the restoration of the Captain Cook Pub located on 

Durham Street. The Jacobean style building, designed by Middlesbrough’s Robert 
Moore, was erected in 1893 and is classified as a Grade II Listed Building. 

 
40. The Captain Cook Pub is now the Old Town’s last surviving public house, and in 2020 

it was listed as one of the Top Ten Most Endangered Buildings by the Victorian 
Society. As a result, the restoration has been prioritised for a number of years, but the 
Council has lacked the resources to take it forward. Resources have been sought from 
the Towns Fund that would enable some of the restoration work to take place on both 
the Old Town Hall and the Captain Cook Pub, if successful.  

 
41. Unfortunately the deterioration of the Captain Cook Pub building has accelerated, and 

major stabilisation works are required as a matter of urgency. As building works are 
proposed on the Boho Bright Ideas site next door, it is felt that these stabilisation 
works need to take place immediately, if the building is to survive the disruption and 
vibration that is inevitable. The costs of the stabilisation are estimated to be around 
£538,000 and would include: 
 

a. replace the roof covering in its entirety with new slate type covering, renewed 
roof timbers, rafters etc. as required; 

b. all rainwater goods will be replaced; 
c. all structural issues to gables will need to be demolished and rebuilt; 
d. skin the main exposed gables to make then safe and water tight off an 

extended foundation; 
e. remove all plaster ceilings to allow access to damaged roof and floor timbers; 
f. remove plaster from external walls to allow repointing / brick repairs where 

necessary; 

Page 21



8 

g. remove all damaged internal walls, fixtures and fittings suspended ceilings 
etc., remove all finishes to leave a bare / stripped building including all 
redundant M & E; and, 

h. demolish and remove 2no single storey extensions added as toilets etc. as 
these are structurally unsafe and block up apertures as required.  

 
42. In undertaking these works Middlesbrough Council would not only preserve a Grade II 

Listed Building and prevent harm to life, but would also turn the asset into an 
appealing prospect for a potential future user. The building is considered suitable for a 
range of commercial and leisure purposes. 

 
43. To ensure that the works can be undertaken urgently, it is proposed that resources be 

allocated to the project from the funding displaced from the original Boho X budget, 
and reallocated to the development of Middlehaven. If successful, the Towns Fund 
resources would enable the Captain Cook refurbishment to be completed, and the 
building brought back into full commercial use. 

 
Next Steps 
 
44. Once the appointment of BCEGI is confirmed, the strategic masterplan would be 

developed, and individual schemes within Middlehaven would be progressed 
accordingly. The overall process would be governed through a joint steering group 
comprising senior officers from both organisations.  

 
45. The contractual arrangements with the Brownfield Housing Fund infrastructure works 

and the stabilisation of the Captain Cook Pub would be progressed immediately to 
meet the necessary timescales for their implementation. 

 
46. The strategy developed for Middlehaven would be brought back to Executive in the 

coming months, for endorsement and some form of public launch. 
 
What decision(s) are being asked for?  

 
47. That Executive approves: 
 

a. the appointment of BCEGI via NEPRO3 Framework as the Council’s 
strategic partner at Middlehaven; 

b. the development of a masterplan to be brought back to Executive for 
endorsement; 

c. reallocation of £3.9m of TVCA and Council resources freed up from the Boho 
X budget into the wider development of Middlehaven, with a further £1.5m 
returned to the Council’s Capital Programme; 

d. ringfencing the income generated from Boho X to supporting the wider 
development of Middlehaven; 

e. accepting the Brownfield Housing Fund offer of £7.9m from TVCA, subject to 
final sign off by the Director of Finance; 

f. commencing the infrastructure works identified through the Brownfield 
Housing Fund; 

g. committing up to £538,000 from the former Boho X funding to the 
stabilisation of the Captain Cook Pub.  

 
 

Page 22



9 

Why is this being recommended? 
 
48. The redevelopment of Middlehaven is key to the future economic growth of the town. 

The funding package identified to deliver the Council’s aspirations at Middlehaven is 
starting to come to fruition, but needs to be applied to a coherent strategy and phasing 
plan, and delivered in partnership with an organisation that is capable of taking it 
forward.  
 

Impact(s) of recommended decision(s) 
 
Legal 
 
49. BCEGI will be procured via the NEPRO3 Framework which is a compliant 

procurement route and will be contract managed through those framework 
arrangements.    

 
50. Each of the funding sources identified above would be subject to detailed offer letters 

that will be formally signed off by the Director of Finance, but would require detailed 
analysis to ensure legal compliance.  

 
51. The stabilisation works at the Captain Cook Pub would require appropriate consents, 

as the Grade II listing may necessitate approval from Historic England.  
 

Financial 
 
52. The financial resources set out above, would all be applied to the development of 

Middlehaven, but would all have individual compliance requirements to adhere to. The 
offer letters accompanying each source would require endorsement by the Director of 
Finance, and would be governed through the Council’s existing financial procedures. 

 
53. The summary of the funding highlighted in this report, and its status is as follows: 
 

Funding Source Amount Status 

Future High Streets Fund £14m Offer received from MHCLG, report to Executive on 
final programme likely in April/May 21 (not all to be 
applied to Middlehaven) 

Towns Fund £22m (est) Awaiting offer from MHCLG, report to Executive on 
final programme likely in April/May 21 (not all to be 
applied to Middlehaven) 

TVCA / Council’s Capital 
Programme 

£3.9m Approved as part of Boho X / Boho 8 package, but 
needing reallocation to additional Middlehaven 
projects (including stabilisation of the Captain Cook 
Pub). A further £1.5m would be returned to the 
Council’s Capital Programme 

Brownfield Housing Fund £7.9m Offer letter received from TVCA, and needing 
approval to commence 

Boho X Income Up to £1m 
p.a. 

Not yet secured 

 
Policy Framework 
 
54. The decision would not affect the Council’s policy framework.  The decision is aligned 

with the Strategic Plan aims around developing central Middlehaven and creating new 
commercial and residential development. 

 

Page 23



10 

55. The decision is also aligned to the Medium Term Financial Plan as the proposed 
housing development would generate significant income from Council Tax, and 
Business Rates. 

 
Ward 
 
56. The property is situated in Central Ward and the respective Ward Members would be 

consulted on the development of a future strategic masterplan for Middlehaven. 
 
57. Members would be also be further consulted on any subsequent proposal made as 

part of the normal planning process. 
 

Equality and Diversity 
 
58. An Impact Assessment has been undertaken, concluding that the decision would not 

have any disproportionately negative impacts.   
 
Risk 
 
59. The following high level risks, which are identified in the Strategic and Directorate Risk 

Registers, would be reduced if Middlehaven is developed appropriately:  
 

a. O1-005 - If poor economic growth occurs, then this will reduce public and 
private sector investment in the town, including town centre retail, housing 
development and business. 

b. O1-045 - If delivery of the new housing programme does not meet the 
projected targets then this can have a negative impact on the assumptions 
within the MTFP. 

 
60. The individual risks associated with each funding stream would be addressed in the 

approval arrangements for each one, and their sign off. These would be managed 
through the Council’s existing risk management processes. 

 
Actions to be taken to implement the decision(s) 

 
61. Subject to Executive approval, the Council would progress the arrangements with 

BCEGI, and commence preparation of the proposed strategy. The contracting required 
to progress the Brownfield Housing Fund infrastructure works, and the stabilisation of 
the Captain Cook Pub would also be taken forward immediately.   

 
Background papers 
 

Body Report title Date 

   

 
Appendices 
 
Appendix I – Middlehaven Boundary and Brownfield Housing Fund Plots 
Appendix II – Current Offer Letter for Brownfield Housing Fund 

Page 24



CARGO FLEET ROAD

THE LEEWAY

3.4m

SHEPHERDSON W
AY

SL

3.4m

MP 0.75
SL

SL

3.0m

WINDWARD WAY

3.4m

Cinema

3.4m

MP 0.5

Perch

Mud

El Sub Sta

Sloping m
asonry

Works

SM

Mud

Sloping masonry

Bollard

Rock

Bollard

Bollard

Perch

Tank

SHEPHERDSON W
AY

4.3m

7.9m

Mud

5.2m

Sloping m
asonry

M
HW

Lock

5.2m

North

THE HALYARD

Jetty

Perch

Sloping masonry

Mean High Water

Bollard

Rock

Entrance Channel

L Twr

South Wharf

Wharf

4.3m

Bollard

Riverside Stadium

Stand

7.6m

Perch

Perch

Perch

VULCAN STREET

Bollards

Bollard

Bollard

L Twr

3.0m

3.7m

COMMERCIAL STREET

Bollard

4.9m

Bollard

Bollard

Middlesbrough Dock

Bollards
Bollard

El Sub Sta

Bollard

DOCK STREET

Bollard

Bollards

Clock

4.9m

Tower

Bollard

SCOTT'S

4.0m

Bollards

Bollard

3.7m

WINDWARD WAY

3.7m

4.6m

Bollard

Bollard

Works

Bollard

Lock

Bollard

ROAD

Bollard

Travelling Crane

Bollard

Bollard

3.4m

TH
E 

HA
LY

AR
D

Mean High Water

(disused)

River Tees

Middlesbrough Reach

Mud

Slipways

Landing Stage

Shingle

Shingle

Middlesbrough Reach

Works

L Twr

Mud

3.3m

Bollards

3.0m

Bollard

Bollard

El Sub Sta

SM

River Tees

VULCAN STREET

Mooring Stage

Bollards

Mean High Water

Bollard

El Sub Sta

bol

MLW

MLW

MLW

MLW

El Sub Sta

Cycle Track

Cycle Track

Cycle Track
Cycle Track

Cycle Track

Cycle Track

Cycle Track

Tanks

DW

CCLW

Boro Const and UA Bdy

CCLW

Boro Const and UA Bdy

Hudson Quay

Shelter

Shelter

Shelter

QU
AY

 ST
RE

ET

El Sub Sta

Sports Court

Hughes House

Cycle W
ay

Cycle W
ay

Cycle W
ay

FRY STREET

House
Transport

El Sub Sta

7573

71

W
ILSON STREET

A 66

Gas Gov

SL

New

LOWER GOSFORD STREET

20

Commerce

Sub Sta

WOOD STREET

Depot

4.6m

CL
EV

EL
AN

D 
ST

RE
ET

PC

2

LOWER FEVERSHAM STREET3
15

Depot

(PH)

7 
to

 1
1

Albert

Car Park

House

11

SP
RI

N
G 

ST
RE

ET

8

SL

6.4m

House

Middlesbrough Station

BR
O

O
K 

ST
RE

ET

SL

12

5

DOCK STREET

GOSFORD STREET

LOWER EAST STREET

FEVERSHAM STREET

Bridge

5.8m

4.3m

Royal Middlehaven

Warehouse

3

48

Works

Club
Exchange

6.7m

4

BRIDGE STREET EAST
9

S Gantry

RE
DC

AR
 ST

RE
ET

Bu
ild

in
gs

Subway

PH

13

EX
CH

AN
GE

 P
LA

CE

Path

Cl
ev

ela
nd

Q
ue

en
's 

Te
rr

ac
e

SCHOOL CROFT

AL
BE

RT
 S

TR
EE

T

21

TCPs

Club

17
 to

 2
7

Bo
lc

ko
w

 H
ou

se

El

3.4m

3.0m

4.3m

42

Q
U

EEN
'S SQ

U
ARE

Roof Car Park

ZETLAND ROAD

LB Buildings PH

GR
AY

 ST
RE

ET

2

5.5m

Warehouse

5

1 to 15

Warehouse

AC
KL

AM
 ST

RE
ET

 SO
UT

H

2

Warehouse

El

2.4m

2.4m

Gov

17
7

16
9

Warehouse

Multistorey Car Park

Garage

33 to 65

Garage

Gas

SL

BROUGHAM STREET

2.7m

4.9m

4

7.0m

W
EL

LI
N

GT
O

N
 S

TR
EE

T

STATION STREET

SN
OW

DO
N 

RO
AD

5.5m

Car Park

Warehouse

7.9m

W
ar

eh
ou

se

2.7m

17

Warehouse

SB

7.6m

SL

BO
U

N
DA

RY
 R

O
AD

NILE STREET

Posts

10.1m

7.3m

2.4m

6.7m

BROUGHAM STREET

4.3m

VI
NE

 ST
RE

ET

Works

5.2m

SU
SS

EX
 S

TR
EE

T

SL

Warehouse

17
1

9.1m

GAR
DEN

S

Warehouse

BRIDGE STREET WEST

3.0m

Posts

El Sub Sta

Warehouse

Sub Sta

Warehouse

ST
OC

KT
ON

 ST
RE

ET

PR
IN

CE
SS

 ST
RE

ET

WASHINGTON STREET

Warehouse

7 to 17

CATH
EDRAL

Warehouse

Garage

14
7

17
5 

to
 1

79

Factory

Coal Depot

(PH)

4.3m

5.5m

Wharf

VULCAN STREET

4.6m

Corporation Wharf

FE
RR

Y R
OA

D

Captain
The

El 
Su

b 
St

a

4.0m

Clinic

4.6m

Depot

9.8m

Old

5.2m

5.2m

Travelling Crane

Town Hall

Tr
an

sp
or

te
r B

rid
ge

Depot

COMMERCIAL STREET

4.9m

Tank

TO
W

ER
 G

RE
EN

4.6m

5.2m

DU
RH

AM
 ST

RE
ET

Works

ST
RE

ET

Works

NO
RT

H

7.0m

Cook

Warehouse

3.4m

Fire Station

EAST STREET

IN
NE

S S
TR

EE
T

Garage

SN
OW

DO
N 

RO
AD

M
AR

LB
OR

OU
GH

 G
AR

DE
NS

(PH)

Scrap Yard

10.4m

WB

3.0m

WEST STREET

1

ST
OC

KT
ON

 ST
RE

ET

WB

Works

6.4m

Scrap Yards

Works

4.0m

3.0m W
ar

eh
ou

se

3.4m

Th
e 

M
id

dl
eh

av
en

RICHMOND STREET

Timber Yard

4.0m

3.4m

BU
CK

 ST
RE

ET

SIL
VER ST

REET

3.4m

Depot

Warehouse

Warehouse

SUFFIELD STREET

8.5m

WB

ACKLA
M STREET NORTH

3.4m

El Sub Sta

4

3.7m

Warehouse

Warehouse

MLW

MLW

M
LW

Thistle Hotel

Cycle Track

Cycle Track

Police Headquarters

DEPOT ROAD

El Sub Sta

Bohouse

15 to 21

1 to 14

The
Stages
Academy

Cu
st

om
 H

ou
se

77
 to

 7
9

Car Park

Langwaite Buildings

1 t
o 14

El Sub Sta

Post

LB

1

El Sub
Sta

4

MHW

12

9

Erimus
House

1

Rede House

69

Shelters

101 to 640

1

1

15
7

2

Middlesbrough College

1

Swing-Bridge

Warehouse

El Sub
Sta

The Qube

Sports
Court

The Gateway

Boho Five

(football)

Stem Centre

Boho Four

Car Park

Toll

Cycle
Parking

Electricity
Sub Station

House

PIO
NEERIN

G W
AY

6

9

1

5

BOHO PF

MDC/
Bright Ideas

JAP City

Northern Parcels

Rev Date Description

 C  COPYRIGHT:  ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.  This drawing must not be reproduced without
permission. Do not scale. The contractor is responsible for checking dimensions which are
in millimetres unless otherwise stated.

Drawn

Design Services
Growth and Place | Middlesbrough Council
PO Box 504 | 1st Floor Civic Centre | Middlesbrough, TS1 9FY
www.middlesbrough.gov.uk

Date

Project

Drawing Title

Scale

File Ref Drawing No.

\\middata\Data\Design Services\# Drawing Template\Middlesbrough-Council-logo_colour.jpg

Middlehaven Overview

L-01

P
age 25



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

1 

 

 
 
 
 

3 February 2021 

 
Ian Wright 
Middlesbrough Council 
Middlesbrough House 
Elm Street 
Middlesbrough 
TS1 2DA 
 
Ref: BHF1-3/Brownfield Housing Fund/ BHF01-2021 
 
Dear Ian, 
  
PART 1 - OFFER LETTER – Middlehaven Housing scheme (‘the Project’)   
 
Tees Valley Combined Authority (‘TVCA’) are pleased to confirm approval of your funding application 
in relation to the Project. 

This Offer Letter, and the documents attached to it, constitute the terms and conditions of the Grant 
(‘the Agreement’).  The Agreement is therefore made up of the following Parts, which are to be read 
as a single document:- 

a) Part 1 – this Offer Letter – which you are required to sign to confirm your acceptance of 
the Grant on the terms and conditions set out in this Agreement; 

b) Part 2 – the Funding Particulars– which sets out the amount of the Grant you will 
receive, the specific key terms which apply to the provision of the Grant, and any 
amendments to TVCA’s Standard Terms and Conditions of Funding;  

c) Part 3 – the Standard Funding Terms – which apply to the provision of the Grant (subject 
to any amendments set out in the Funding Particulars); and 

d) Part 4 – your Business Case – which sets out the purposes for which the Grant was 
sought. 

The words and expressions used in this Offer Letter have the meaning set out in the Standard Funding 
Terms at Part 3.  The expressions ‘You’ and ‘Yours’ means the ‘Grant Recipient’ or ‘the Grant 
Recipient’s’.  

1. Use of the Grant  

The Grant is made strictly for the Agreed Purposes as set out in the Funding Particulars.   

2. Next Steps   

Page 27



 

2 

 

You are required to sign and date two (2) copies of this Offer Letter and to return both copies to 
TVCA at the following address within fourteen (14) days of receipt:- 

Julie McCartney, Programme Development Manager, Tees Valley Combined Authority, 
Cavendish House, Teesdale Business Park, Stockton on Tees, TS17 6QY. 

TVCA shall sign both copies on receipt and return one fully signed copy to you for your records.  

Please note that TVCA will be unable to release any payment to You until TVCA receive the 
signed Offer Letter from You in hard copy.  TVCA reserves the right to rescind the offer of the 
Grant if TVCA do not receive a signed Offer Letter within fourteen (14) days of the date of this 
Offer Letter. 

3. Effect of Acceptance of the Grant  

In signing this Offer Letter, You confirm that:- 

a) You accept the Grant offered on the terms of the Agreement; 

b) You are duly authorised to accept the Grant by the Grant Recipient;  

c) You will comply in full with all obligations set out in the Agreement; and 

d) You understand that TVCA may withhold, or require repayment of, the Grant if You fail 
to comply in full with Your obligations as set out in the Agreement 

 

IN WITNESS whereof the duly authorised representatives of the Parties have signed this 

Agreement as a Deed on   day of    2021. 

 
 
 
Signed as a deed by                                                                                                                         
TEES VALLEY COMBINED                 
AUTHORITY by                                             
 

  
 
………………………………………………………. 
Authorised Signatory  
 
………………………………………………………. 
Name of Authorised Signatory  
  

  
    
Signed as a deed on behalf of                                                   
MIDDLESBROUGH COUNCIL 
by          

  
 
………………………………………………………. 
S151 Officer 
Authorised Signatory  
 
………………………………………………………. 
Name of Authorised Signatory  
 

Page 28



 

3 

 

PART 2 – FUNDING PARTICULARS 
 

Project Middlehaven Housing scheme 

Grant Recipient  Middlesbrough Council 

Grant Recipient’s 
Address for 
Notice 

Middlesbrough House,  
Elm Street,  
Middlesbrough,  
TS1 2DA  

Application 
Approval Date 

3rd February 2021 

Pre-conditions 
None  

Agreed Purposes 
– Assets to be 
Funded  

The agreed purposes are for the land enabling and site preparation works (as per 
the breakdown in the business case), to prepare for subsequent housing 
construction, which includes: 

 The remediation and site clearance of 8 hectares of Brownfield located on 
Middlehaven as per the site plan; 

 The infrastructure and enabling works for the highways, remediation and 
service diversions, including site surveys; and  

 The service diversions and connections, including the new power 
connection. 

Approved Use of 
Asset 

The approved use of the land is for the construction of 634 housing units. 

Approved Use 
Period of Asset 

30 years from the date of Practical Completion of housing units in line with the 
building contract entered into by the Grant Recipient for the construction of the 
new asset (‘Practical Completion Date’). Any changes to the approved use of the 
asset must be first agreed with TVCA in writing before any changes are made. 

Planned Disposal 
of Asset 

None 

Key Milestones 
The scheme will be delivered over 5 phases. The key milestones are as follows:  
 

Key milestones 
Description 

Expected Completion Date 

 Phase 1 Phase 2 Phase 3a Phase 3b Phase 4 

 Bright 
Ideas 

Boho PF 
Northern 
Parcels 

Boho 
Towers 

JAP City 

Page 29



 

4 

 

Formal agreement with 
development partner 

30 Nov 20 31 Oct 20 31 Mar 21 
31 May 

21 
30 June 

21 

Planning permission 
approved (RIBA stage 
3) 

31 Oct 20 30 Nov 21 30 Sep 21 
31 May 

21 
31 Oct 21 

RIBA Stage 3 achieved 31 Jan 21 31 Dec 21 31 Jul 21 30 Jun 21 30 Nov 21 

Public sector phases - 
formal agreement with 
end user 

28 Feb 21 
31 Oct 20 31 Oct 21 31 Jan 22 31 Oct 21 

Date construction 
contract let 

28 Feb 21 
31 Jan 22 31 Oct 21 31 Jan 22 31 Oct 21 

Upfront works start on 
site 

31 Jan 21 30 Jun 21 
31 Jan 21 31 Jan 21 

31 Jan 21 

Upfront works 
completed 

31 Jan 22 31 Oct 23 31 Mar 22 31 Mar 22 31 Dec 21 

Residential units start 
on site 

30 Apr 21 31 Mar 22 31 Jan 22 31 Mar 22 31 Jan 22 

Residential units 
completed 

31 Jan 22 31 Dec 24 30 Sep 24 30 Jun 23 31 Mar 23 

  

 

Agreed Outputs 
A full Monitoring and Evaluation Plan will be developed which will form the basis of 
reporting requirements for the outputs in this section and other KPIs as set out in 
the business case.  
 

Output Target Timescale 

Remediation of net additional brownfield land 8ha 31 March 2022 

Net additional affordable residential units 
developed by Affordable Homes Programme 

634 31 December 2024 

On and offsite net additional jobs pa supported 
(safeguarded) by the construction of the net 
additional units 

1965 Per annum  

(2021/24) 

Net additional apprenticeships created 21 31 December 2024 

Energy efficient homes that have energy efficiency 
rating above E 

634 31 March 2024 

 

Page 30



 

5 

 

Amount of Grant A maximum sum of £7,922,000 (seven million, nine hundred and twenty-two 
thousand pounds) subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement.   

Match Funding 
Required  

 

The Grant Recipient is required to provide an additional £76,535,392 (seventy-six 
million, five hundred and thirty-five thousand, three hundred and ninety-two 
pounds) to fund construction of the housing units from: 

 Middlesbrough Development Company borrowing £16,404,266 (sixteen 
million, four hundred and four thousand, two hundred and sixty-six 
pounds); 

 PF borrowing £26,469,527 (twenty-six million, four hundred and sixty-nine 
thousand, five hundred and twenty-seven pounds); 

 BCEGI capital £24,421,599 (twenty-four million, four hundred and twenty-
one thousand, five hundred and ninety-nine pounds); and 

 Affordable Homes Programme £9,240,000 (nine million and two hundred 
and forty thousand pounds). 

  

Funding Profile Unless otherwise agreed in writing and subject to the terms of this Agreement, 
payments will be made by TVCA to the Grant Recipient quarterly in arrears, based on 
the actual expenditure incurred on land remediation works in the period.  

Subject to the above the cashflow will be profiled as follows:- 

 

Total  
Jan-

Mar21 
Apr-

Jun21 
Jul-

Sep21 
Oct-

Dec21 
Jan-

Mar22 
22/23 23/24 

£m 
Q4 

20/21 
Q1 

21/22 
Q2 

21/22 
Q3 

21/22 
Q4 

21/22 
  

Quarterly / Annual 
cash out totals 7.922 0.744 1.063 0.362 2.084 1.935 1.096 0.639 

The Grant Recipient will from time to time (acting reasonably) agree to such revisions 
to the Funding Profile as are necessary taking into account (amongst other things) 
the actual progress of the Project and the consequent timings of payments due to 
the progress of contracted activity under the Project. For the avoidance of doubt this 
provision will not require TVCA to commit any funding to the Project in additional to 
the agreed Amount of Grant. 

Eligible 
Expenditure 

Eligible expenditure incurred in respect of the Agreed Purposes only and as detailed 
in the business case, or as agreed in writing by TVCA (agreement not to be 
unreasonably withheld) prior to the first payment of the Grant. 

VAT Position TVCA considers that all payments of Grant are outside of the scope of Value Added 
Tax, but where this is or becomes chargeable, all payments of Grant shall be deemed 
to be inclusive of Value Added Tax. 

Agreed 
Completion Date 

31 March 2025 (or such later date as maybe agreed with TVCA if there is project 
slippage) or the date on which all outputs have been achieved, whichever is earlier. 

Claim 
Requirements  

As set out in clause 8 (Payment of Grant). 

Page 31



 

6 

 

Acknowledgment 
or Publicity 
Requirements 

Work with the TVCA Communications & Marketing Team on any project 
announcements prior to the development of the joint Communications and 
Marketing Plan. See clause 14.  

TVCA and HM Gov must both be acknowledged as a partner in all publicity, including 
on-site hoarding boards. and provided with the appropriate notice to input into and 
approve content. A joint marketing and communications plan is to be agreed by all 
parties. 

Two weeks advance notice must be given of any publication or press releases in 
relation to the scheme to allow time for review by TVCA and MHCLG. This may result 
in a ministerial visit.  

Commercially 
Sensitive 
Information 

None 

Monitoring 
Period 

From the Application Approval Date to the Agreed Completion Date and delivery of 
all outputs. 

Frequency and 
Format of 
Reports  

In addition to the requirements set out in clause 12 (Monitoring and Reporting) the 
Grant Recipient shall provide: 

 An annual statement on the delivery programme of the scheme which 
includes but not limited to: 

o Performance against the outputs and milestones in the delivery plan;  

o Spending against the overall funding profile; 

o Amount of remediated brownfield land readied for development; 

o Housing starts and completions – this should identify tenure type and 

whether funded by other Government Investment programmes; 

o Additionality and wider economic benefits delivered; 

o Delivery risks and mitigating actions 

 

 The annual statement must be submitted by the 30th April each year, with 
quarterly reports being submitted by 15th of July, October and January. 

 A full risk register which is to be reviewed and updated on a regular basis to 
be summarised in the Quarterly Monitoring Reporting.  

 Provide TVCA with final project evaluation report (and give TVCA the 
opportunity to contribute to this work).  

 Engage in the programme evaluation and provide information as requested 
by TVCA. 

Agreed Share of 
Assurance 
Framework Costs  

None 

Page 32



 

7 

 

Amendments to 
the Standard 
Funding Terms (if 
any) 

None 

Additions to the 
Standard Funding 
Terms (if any) 

The granting of the Brownfield Housing Fund (BHF) will be subject to the following 
conditions being met as specified or otherwise throughout the Term. The Grant 
recipient will: 

1. Invite TVCA to sit on the project delivery group (or equivalent) for the scheme 
throughout the Term; 
 

2. Ensure a full risk register is completed, updated and maintained on a regular 
basis to be summarised in the Quarterly Monitoring Reporting, along with a full 
delivery programme to be summarised in the Quarterly Monitoring Reporting; 

 
3. Agree a joint Marketing and Communication Plan with TVCA Communications & 

Marketing Team by end of 28 February 2021 and deliver its agreed emblements 
throughout the Term;  

 
4. Work with TVCA to agree a monitoring and evaluation plan that meets the 

requirements of the MHCLG funding contract by 28 February 2021 and to 
comply with that plan throughout the Term; 

5. Ensure a start on site for construction before 31 March 2025; 

6. Provide a copy of the agreed procurement Strategy by 28 February 2021, 
detailing the open market competitive process in line with the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015, or other competitive procurement methods, where 
appropriate. Each tender document and outcome should be provided to TVCA 
in writing along with an agreed programme of works 

7. Provide a signed copy of each of the land purchase agreement for Phases 1 and 
2 by 31 March 2021; and copies of signed land agreements for phases 3a,3b 
and 4 by 30 September 2021; 

8. Provide copies of agreed forward funding agreements with Registered providers by 30 
September 2021; 

9. Acquire planning permission for phases 2, 3a, 3b and 4 by 30 November 2021; BHF 
funding for Year 2 is conditional on acquiring planning approvals, with Year 1 subject to 
clawback, if planning permission is not approved. This will be applied for subsequent 
years for the term; 

10. Provide written confirmation of approval by the relevant Board or Cabinet for 
the £76,535,392 match funding to fund construction of the housing units 
together with a commitment to meeting any project cost overruns by 30 April 
2021; 

Page 33



 

8 

 

11. Provide confirmation of the delivery partner for each phase (as per the key 
milestones) following procurement and a signed copy of the building contract 
agreement, along with a detailed programme of works; and 

12. Provide a copy of the RIBA 4 Design and Site Surveys for all phases by 31 
December 2021. Any increased costs resulting from this (above the agreed BHF 
grant) must be met by MBC and developer contributions. 

 

Page 34



 

9 

 

PART 3 – TVCA STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF FUNDING 
 
1. DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION 

In this Agreement, unless the context otherwise requires, expressions shall have the following 
meanings set out in the Appendix to this Part 3 (TVCA Standard Terms and Conditions of 
Funding).   

2. COMMENCEMENT AND TERM 

This Agreement shall commence on the Application Approval Date of this Agreement and shall 
continue for the Term, unless terminated in accordance with Clause 16 (Events of Default).  

3. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT 

3.1 TVCA will not make the first payment of Grant and/or any subsequent payment of Grant unless 
all of the Preconditions have been complied with, in addition to any Preconditions listed in the 
Contract Particulars:- 

3.1.1 the Grant Recipient has satisfied TVCA that the Grant Recipient has sufficient 
Match Funding committed to achieve Completion of the Project by the Agreed 
Completion Date; 

3.1.2 the Grant Recipient has satisfied TVCA that the Grant Recipient has all funding 
needed to pay for expenditure in relation to the Project which is Not Eligible 
Expenditure; 

3.1.3 the Grant Recipient has paid the Assurance Framework Costs in full; 

3.1.4 any Preliminary Expenditure which is Eligible Expenditure has been used in 
accordance with any conditions relating to it; 

3.1.5 a Certificate of Title in respect of the ownership of the Site and the Grant 
Recipient's estate or interest therein (being either the freehold estate or a Long 
Lease) has been issued to TVCA by a firm of solicitors acceptable to TVCA; and 

3.1.6 the Grant Recipient shall have supplied to TVCA and TVCA shall have approved 
the Project Specifications. 

3.2 Notwithstanding clause 3.1, TVCA may waive in whole or in part any Precondition without 
prejudicing TVCA's right to require subsequent fulfilment of such Precondition provided always 
that the payment of a Grant Claim shall not operate as a waiver of any of the obligations in this 
clause 3 or exclude the right for TVCA to exercise any of its rights under this Agreement.  

4. OBLIGATIONS OF TVCA 

4.1 Subject to clause 4.2, TVCA shall make the Grant to the Grant Recipient in accordance with the 
Funding Profile.  

4.2 TVCA's obligation to make the Grant is conditional on the Grant Recipient:- 

Page 35



 

10 

 

4.2.1 having all necessary Consents to proceed with the Project; 

4.2.2 subject to clause 3.2, having met all Preconditions in full;  

4.2.3 satisfying TVCA that the Grant Recipient is meeting, and can continue to meet, 
its obligations as set out in clause 5 (Obligations of the Grant Recipient); and 

4.2.4 satisfying TVCA that none of the circumstances described in clause 16 (Events of 
Default) have occurred.  

4.3 For the avoidance of doubt, TVCA shall have no obligation to provide any further funding in 
relation to the Project, or any future project, other than as provided for specifically in this 
Agreement.  

5. OBLIGATIONS OF THE GRANT RECIPIENT 

5.1 The Grant Recipient agrees with TVCA that it will:- 

5.1.1 progress the Project in an efficient and business-like manner; 

5.1.2 not make any material alteration to the Project unless TVCA agrees otherwise in 
writing; 

5.1.3 apply the Grant exclusively for the Agreed Purpose and in relation to Eligible 
Expenditure only;   

5.1.4 deliver the Agreed Outputs; 

5.1.5 meet the Key Milestones;  

5.1.6 comply with the following at all times throughout the Project:- 

a)  the terms of any Consents; 

b) all applicable Law including all requirements pursuant to the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015 and State Aid Law; and 

c) the terms and conditions of this Agreement, including but not limited to:- 

i. the monitoring and reporting requirements set out in clause 12 
(Monitoring and Reporting);  

ii. the intellectual property requirements set out in clause 13 (Intellectual 
Property); and 

iii. the public relations and marketing requirements set out in clause 14 
(Public Relations and Marketing); 

5.1.7 not charge, assign, transfer or otherwise dispose of the benefit of this 
Agreement; 

Page 36



 

11 

 

5.1.8 provide TVCA with such information as TVCA may reasonably require in 
connection with the Project; 

5.1.9 submit Claim Forms with full supporting evidence in accordance with the 
Funding Profile (pursuant to clause 8 (Payment of Grant)); 

5.1.10 secure all other sources of funding required to deliver the Project as identified 
in the Application Form including any Match Funding; and 

5.1.11 meet all cost overrun(s) associated with the Project. 

5.2 The Grant Recipient further agrees with TVCA that it shall as soon as reasonably practicable 
inform TVCA in writing of:- 

5.2.1 any Change; and/or 

5.2.2 any event which might adversely affect the carrying out and completion of the 
Project or any part of it. 

5.3 The Grant Recipient may, with the consent of TVCA, task a Delivery Partner to carry out certain 
of the Project Activities provided that such shall not in any way reduce any of the obligations 
or liability of the Grant Recipient under this Funding Agreement.  If Consent is given, the 
Delivery Partner shall be named in the Funding Particulars.  

5.4 For the avoidance of doubt, the Grant Recipient shall be liable for the acts of its Delivery Partner 
including any Corrections resulting therefrom. 

5.5 The Grant Recipient shall not use the Grant to:- 

5.5.1 make any payment to members of its Governing Body; or 

5.5.2 pay for any expenditure commitments of the Grant Recipient entered into 
before the Application Approval Date, 

unless this has been approved in writing by TVCA. 

5.6 The Grant Recipient shall not spend any part of the Grant on the delivery of the Project outside 
of the Approved Use Period. 

5.7 Should any part of the Grant remain unspent after the expiration of the Approved Use Period, 
the Grant Recipient shall ensure that any unspent monies are returned to TVCA unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by TVCA. 

5.8 Any liabilities arising after the Agreed Completion Date must be managed and paid for by the 
Grant Recipient using the Grant or other resources of the Grant Recipient.  There will be no 
additional funding available from TVCA for this or any other purpose. 

6. PROJECT WORKS  

6.1 The Grant Recipient agrees with the TVCA that:- 

Page 37



 

12 

 

6.1.1 it shall not carry out any Project Activities upon the Site without having obtained 
all necessary Consents for such activities and in particular shall not carry out any 
Works constituting development for which planning permission is required 
under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 without having obtained detailed 
planning consent for such Works, and shall if requested by the TVCA produce to 
it such documents or copy documents as the TVCA may require to demonstrate 
satisfaction of its obligations under this paragraph;  

6.1.2 it shall at all times throughout the Project comply with all Consents including the 
relevant Planning Consent; 

6.1.3 it shall prior to the submission of any planning application, submit a copy to the 
TVCA for approval; 

6.1.4 it shall permit the TVCA and its authorised representatives to attend any Project 
meetings including any Site meetings with the Grant Recipient's building 
contractor; 

6.1.5 it shall permit the TVCA and its authorised representatives to visit the Site upon 
reasonable notice to view the Works throughout the lifetime of the Project; and 

6.1.6 it shall use all reasonable endeavours to ensure that the construction and 
operation of the Project reflect the overall principles of Sustainable 
Development. 

7. WARRANTIES 

7.1 The Grant Recipient represents and warrants to TVCA that:- 

7.1.1 the execution of the Offer Letter has been validly authorised and the obligations 
assumed by the Grant Recipient constitute valid, legal, binding and enforceable 
obligations; 

7.1.2 the Grant Recipient is not at the date of this Agreement aware of any:- 

a)  actual or potential litigation or administrative or arbitration proceeding 
which might have a material adverse effect on its business, assets or 
operations or might adversely affect its ability to perform its obligations 
under this Agreement; or 

b) circumstances which may result in the bankruptcy or insolvency of the Grant 
Recipient, or the Grant Recipient making any composition with its creditors; 

7.1.3 the information provided in the Application Form is true, complete and accurate;   

7.1.4 it has disclosed to TVCA all information that might reasonably be thought to have 
influenced TVCA in awarding the Grant to the Grant Recipient; and 

7.1.5 it is not aware of anything which may materially threaten the success of the 
Project. 

Page 38



 

13 

 

8. PAYMENT OF GRANT 

8.1 Subject to the Grant Recipient complying with the Claim Requirements, TVCA shall pay the 
Grant to the Grant Recipient on the Payment Date(s) and in the amounts set out in the Funding 
Profile. 

8.2 The Grant Recipient shall make all Claims no less than fourteen (14) days in advance of each 
Payment Date by submitting the Claim Form to TVCA.  

8.3 The Grant Recipient must notify TVCA promptly if at any time it becomes aware that it is unable 
to make a Claim in accordance with the Funding Profile.  

8.4 Each Claim shall include accounting documents capable of being independently verified in such 
format and detail as may be acceptable to TVCA.  

8.5 TVCA will aim to meet defray the relevant Grant within twenty (20) Working Days of receipt of 
a Claim, subject to the Grant Recipient satisfactorily meeting any request for further 
information or evidence.  The time for payment of the Claim shall not be of the essence.  TVCA 
shall have no liability to the Grant Recipient for any Losses caused by a delay in the payment of 
a Claim howsoever arising.  

8.6 A progress report in respect of the Project must be submitted with each Claim in accordance 
with clause 12 (Monitoring and Reporting).  

8.7 By submitting a Claim, the Grant Recipient warrants that:- 

8.7.1 there is no Event of Default or material breach subsisting by reference to the 
facts and circumstances existing on each such date; and  

8.7.2 if it is not aware of anything which materially threatens the success or successful 
completion of the intention or purpose of this Funding Agreement.  

8.8 TVCA shall apply the approach to Value Added Tax in relation to the Grant as set out in the 
Contract Particulars.  

8.9 If in any Financial Year (the relevant year) there is a shortfall in the amount of Eligible 
Expenditure by reference to the amount planned in the Funding Profile, TVCA will be under no 
obligation to pay Grant for any additional Eligible Expenditure in the following year or any later 
Financial Year.   

8.10 If in any Financial Year (the relevant year) there is an overspend in the amount of Eligible 
Expenditure by reference to the amount planned in the Funding Profile, TVCA will be under no 
obligation to pay Grant in the following year or any later Financial Year which was overspent in 
any relevant year. 

8.11 The Grant shall be paid into a separate bank account in the name of the Grant Recipient which 
must be an ordinary business bank account.  All cheques from the bank account must be signed 
by at least two individual representatives of the Grant Recipient. 

Page 39



 

14 

 

8.12 The Grant Recipient shall not transfer any part of the Grant to bank accounts which are not 
ordinary business accounts within the clearing bank system, without the prior written consent 
of TVCA. 

8.13 The Grant shall be shown in the Grant Recipient's accounts as a restricted fund and shall not be 
included under general funds. 

8.14 The Grant Recipient shall keep separate, accurate and up to date accounts and records of the 
receipt and expenditure of the Grant monies received by it. 

8.15 The Grant Recipient shall keep all invoices, receipts, and accounts and any other relevant 
documents relating to the expenditure of the Grant for a period of at least six (6) years following 
receipt of any Grant monies to which they relate.  TVCA shall have the right to review, at the 
TVCA's reasonable request, the Grant Recipient's accounts and records that relate to the 
expenditure of the Grant and shall have the right to take copies of such accounts and records. 

8.16 The Grant Recipient shall provide TVCA with a copy of its annual accounts within six (6) months 
(or such lesser period as TVCA may reasonably require) of the end of the relevant Financial Year 
in respect of each year in which the Grant is paid. 

8.17 The Grant Recipient shall comply and facilitate TVCA's compliance with all statutory 
requirements as regards accounts, audit or examination of accounts, annual reports and annual 
returns applicable to itself and TVCA. 

9. CLAUSE NOT USED 

10. CORRECTIONS 

10.1 Notwithstanding any other provision in this Agreement, TVCA may impose a Correction.  If a 
Correction is imposed, a notice will be sent to the Grant Recipient setting out the Irregularity 
that TVCA considers has occurred together with the level of Correction imposed having regard 
to the Irregularity and/or the value of the Grant Claim to the extent that the Irregularity applies 
to it.   

10.2 If a Correction is imposed, the Grant Recipient shall either pay the amount or agree to the 
Correction being offset from a future Grant Claim as the case may be.  TVCA shall be at liberty 
to offset an amount of Grant in anticipation of a Correction pending the final outcome of any 
discussions or representations made by TVCA and/or the Grant Recipient in respect of the 
Correction.   

10.3 The Grant Recipient shall be at liberty to make representations in writing to TVCA setting out 
the reasons it considers that the Correction should be adjusted together with evidence in 
sufficient detail to enable TVCA to reconsider the requirement for the Correction provided 
always that TVCA's decision shall be final and binding. 

11.  PROVISIONS RELATING TO ASSETS  

Page 40



 

15 

 

Inventory of the Assets  

11.1 Using the Asset Register Template, the Grant Recipient must establish and maintain an 
inventory of all of the Assets.  

11.2 The Grant Recipient covenants with TVCA that it will not use any Asset for any purpose other 
than the Approved Use throughout the Approved Use Period of the Asset.  

Change of use of any Asset 

11.3 During the Approved Use Period of each Asset, the Grant Recipient shall not cease to use the 
Fixed Asset or the Major Asset, or any part of the Asset for the Approved Use without the prior 
written consent of TVCA.  If consent is given, it may be subject to any conditions which TVCA 
may wish to impose.  Such conditions may include repayment by the Grant Recipient to TVCA 
of all or part of the Grant paid to the Grant Recipient under this Funding Agreement.  

Disposal of any Asset  

11.4 The conditions of this clause shall apply throughout the Approved Use Period of any Asset:- 

11.4.1 in respect of any Planned Disposal, the Grant Recipient need not seek the prior 
written consent of TVCA to such Planned Disposal, provided the Grant Recipient 
can demonstrate that the disposal meets the definition of a Planned Disposal as 
agreed in accordance with this Funding Agreement;  

11.4.2 further to clause 11.4.1 above, where the Grant Recipient intends to make a 
Planned Disposal the Grant Recipient shall notify TVCA in good time prior to such 
Planned Disposal, supplying evidence that such disposal meets the definition of 
a Planned Disposal as set out herein, and TVCA shall promptly supply to the Grant 
Recipient a letter addressed to the relevant Land Registry consenting to the 
disposal; 

11.4.3 the Grant Recipient must not Dispose of any interest in any Asset without the 
prior written consent of TVCA.  If TVCA grants consent to a Disposal, such consent 
may be subject to satisfaction of certain conditions, to be determined by TVCA; 

11.4.4 where the Grant Recipient Disposes of any interest in any Asset without the prior 
written consent of TVCA, then the proceeds of the Disposal (limited to the total 
amount paid by TVCA to the Grant Recipient under this Funding Agreement) shall 
be held on trust by the Grant Recipient for the benefit of TVCA; 

11.4.5 the liability under clause 11.4.4 is separate from the liability to comply with any 
decision of TVCA under clause to require repayment of the whole or any part of 
the amount paid of the Grant, to the Grant Recipient; and 

11.4.6 the Grant Recipient shall provide to TVCA as part of the progress report referred 
to in clause 12.1 information in relation to any Disposals which it either intends 
to make or has made with the prior written consent of TVCA at the date of such 
progress reports. 

Page 41



 

16 

 

12. MONITORING AND REPORTING 

12.1 As part of each Claim, the Grant Recipient shall provide a report including the following 
information:- 

12.1.1 a financial summary which identifies:- 

a) the amount of the expenditure since the claim (if any); 

b) breakdown of how the expenditure identified at (a) above was spent; 
and 

c) confirmation that each item of expenditure identified above at (b) 
above is Eligible Expenditure. 

12.1.2 full evidence of the expenditure itemised at 12.1.1a) above  

12.1.3 an update of progress against Key Milestones and confirmation of any Key 
Milestones which have not been met; and 

12.1.4 an update of progress against delivering Agreed Outputs and confirmation of any 
Agreed Outputs which have not been delivered.    

12.2 In addition to the requirements set out in clause 12.1 above, the Grant Recipient shall (to the 
extent required):- 

12.2.1 provide TVCA with financial and operational reports in relation to the Project on 
the frequency and in the format specified in the Funding Particulars and as 
further notified by TVCA from time to time; 

12.2.2 provide TVCA with such further information as TVCA may reasonably require in 
order for TVCA to establish that the Grant has been used properly in accordance 
with this Agreement within fourteen (14) days; and 

12.2.3 on reasonable written request, permit any person authorised by TVCA such 
reasonable access to its employees, agents, facilities and records, for the 
purpose of evaluating the Grant Recipient's compliance with this Agreement 
within fourteen (14) days.   

12.3 For the duration of the Approved Use Period, the Grant Recipient shall inform TVCA 
immediately in relation to any Disposal:- 

12.3.1 which it intends to make seeking the prior written consent of TVCA; and 

12.3.2 which it has made with the prior written consent of TVCA.  

12.4 The Grant Recipient shall provide TVCA with a final report within fourteen (14) days of the 
Agreed Completion Date which shall confirm whether the Project has been successfully and 
properly completed. 

Page 42



 

17 

 

13. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY 

13.1 The Grant Recipient agrees:- 

13.1.1 to provide TVCA with digital images in electronic format which accurately 
demonstrate the Project (as reasonably requested by TVCA from time to time), 
along with the right to use those images at any time including the right to publish 
and to alter the images and to share them with relevant third parties;  

13.1.2 to hereby grant an irrevocable, perpetual and royalty-free licence to TVCA to use, 
copy, keep and disseminate the Digital Outputs; 

13.1.3 obtain and maintain in force all authorisations of any kind the Grant Recipient 
requires to use, copy, keep and disseminate the Digital Outputs and to grant the 
licence in clause 13.1.2 to TVCA; 

13.1.4 to contract to the effect that any creation made on its behalf of material which 
forms Digital Output is undertaken on terms which enable it to grant the licence 
at clause 13.1.2 to TVCA; and 

13.1.5 ensure that Digital Outputs are held securely and are available on request by 
TVCA. 

14. PUBLIC RELATIONS AND MARKETING 

14.1 The Grant Recipient agrees:- 

14.1.1 to include the statement, ‘This Project is funded by Tees Valley Combined 
Authority’ and the Logo on or in:-  

(a) all Site hoardings and billboards; 

(b) on all communications it releases relating to the Project in whatever format;  

(c) where the Grant is made in relation to a Fixed Asset, on a sign in a 
prominent position to be agreed by TVCA; and 

(d) that such statement and Logo will be given equal prominence to the Grant 
Recipient’s own branding; 

14.1.2 that TVCA has the right to publicise the Grant and the Project; 

14.1.3 not to publish or display any item bearing the Logo or the name of TVCA without 
prior TVCA approval (not to be unreasonably withheld); 

14.1.4 to give TVCA as much advance notice as possible of announcements and 
milestone events (at least four (4) weeks) to allow quotes to be arranged for any 
media releases from the TVCA and/or HM Government as TVCA considers this 
appropriate; 

Page 43



 

18 

 

14.1.5 not to issue any public statement, press release or other publicity in relation to 
the Project without:- 

a) prior TVCA approval (not to be unreasonably withheld); and  

b) giving TVCA and/or HM Government (where TVCA considers this 
appropriate) the opportunity to include a quote or comment in the 
statement; and 

14.1.6 to meet any additional acknowledgment or publicity requirements specified in 
the Funding Particulars or notified by TVCA from time to time, including the 
requirement to use the Logo in certain contexts.  

14.2 TVCA grants to the Grant Recipient a non-exclusive, non-assignable licence to use the Logo 
where authorised or required to do so pursuant to this clause 14 (Public Relations and 
Marketing) only. 

15. STATE AID 

15.1 The Grant Recipient confirms it has undertaken its own independent assessment of the 
compatibility of the Project with State Aid Law and confirms to TVCA that the Project is 
structured so it is compliant with State Aid Law.  

15.2 Where TVCA has provided its views on any aspect of State Aid Law, the Grant Recipient confirms 
that it has considered this information alongside all other sources of State Aid Law available at 
the time of entering into this Agreement in undertaking its own assessment of the Project's 
compliance.  TVCA has taken into account the Grant Recipient's representations on State Aid 
Law compliance in deciding to offer the Grant.  

15.3 The Grant Recipient agrees to:- 

15.3.1 procure and maintain the necessary expertise and resources to deliver the 
Project in accordance with the State Aid Law for the full term of the Project; and 

15.3.2 to maintain appropriate records of compliance with the State Aid Law and agrees 
to take all reasonable steps to assist TVCA to respond to any investigation(s) 
instigated by the European Commission into the Project.  

16. EVENTS OF DEFAULT 

16.1 TVCA may at its absolute discretion:- 

16.1.1 reduce, suspend or withhold the Grant or any part of it; and/or  

16.1.2 require that all or part of the Grant be repaid, and/or 

16.1.3 may terminate this Agreement, or any part of it, on written notice with 
immediate effect; 

on the occurrence of any of the Events of Default listed in clause 16.2. 

Page 44



 

19 

 

16.2 The Events of Default are:- 

16.2.1 the Grant Recipient:- 

a) is in breach of a material term of this Agreement which (in the 
reasonable opinion of TVCA) is not capable of remedy; 

b) is in breach of a material term of this Agreement which is (in the 
reasonable opinion of TVCA) is capable of remedy and the Grant 
Recipient has failed to remedy the breach within fourteen (14) days of 
receipt of written notice from TVCA specifying the breach and 
requesting that it be remedied; 

c) fails to commence the Project Activities by the date which is three (3) 
months after the date of this Agreement; 

d) does not claim the expenditure in line with the Expenditure Profile; 

e) does not complete the Project Activities by the Agreed Completion Date; 

f) fails to meet any Key Milestone or to deliver any Agreed Output; 

g) becomes bankrupt or insolvent, makes any composition with its 
creditors, or has a receiver appointed under the Mental Health Act 1983; 

h) dies or becomes unable to perform their obligations under this 
Agreement due to incapacity for any consecutive or aggregate period of 
four (4) weeks in any period of twelve (12) calendar months; 

i) ceases or threatens to cease to carry on its business;  

j) is guilty of any conduct bringing itself or TVCA into serious public 
disrepute, including but not limited to, a breach of clause 25 (Prevention 
of Bribery); or 

k) in the opinion of TVCA (acting reasonably) commits any act of dishonesty 
or serious or persistent misconduct in connection with or referable to 
the Project or this Agreement (including a material breach of health and 
safety legislation or of The Public Contract Regulations 2015); or 

16.2.2 any Consent necessary to enable the Grant Recipient to deliver the Project is not 
obtained or, having been obtained, is revoked, withdrawn, suspended, modified 
or made subject to conditions;  

16.2.3 the Approved Use of any Asset has ceased without the prior written consent of 
the TVCA;  

16.2.4 any of the warranties given or representations made by the Grant Recipient as 
set out in clause 7 (Warranties) and clause 25.2 (Prevention of Bribery) prove to 
be untrue or incorrect; 

Page 45



 

20 

 

16.2.5 a Change occurs without the prior written approval of the TVCA; 

16.2.6 any event or circumstance which (in the reasonable opinion of TVCA) might 
materially adversely affect:- 

a) the carrying out and completion of the Project or any part of it, or  

b) the Grant Recipient’s ability to achieve the Agreed Outputs; or  

c) the Grant Recipient’s ability to meet the Key Milestones; or 

16.2.7 a finding of non-compliance with State Aid Law is made in respect of the Project 
by the European Commission or a Court of competent jurisdiction (in which case, 
the Grant Recipient acknowledges and agrees to repay the Grant with interest in 
accordance with the European Commission's reference rates on request).  

17. DISPUTE RESOLUTION PROCEDURE 

17.1 Any dispute arising in relation to any aspect of this Agreement shall be resolved in accordance 
with this clause 17.  

17.2 The Parties shall endeavour to:- 

17.2.1 notify each other of any anticipated disputes so that any potential dispute can 
be avoided by negotiation between them; and 

17.2.2 resolve any failure to agree matters or any disputes by direct negotiations 
between senior representatives of the Parties. 

17.3 Where direct negotiations have failed to resolve the dispute, either Party may refer the matter 
to an adjudicator (“the Adjudicator”).  The Adjudicator shall be selected by the President for 
the time being of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators unless the Parties in dispute agree 
another appropriate person.  

17.4 The Adjudicator shall be deemed not to be an arbitrator but shall render his decision as an 
expert, and the provisions of the Arbitration Act 1996 and the law relating to arbitration shall 
not apply to the Adjudicator or their determination or the procedure used to reach the 
determination.  

17.5 The Grant Recipient shall continue to comply with, observe and perform all its obligations 
hereunder regardless of the nature of the dispute and notwithstanding the referral of the 
dispute for resolution under this clause 17. 

17.6 The Parties shall give effect forthwith to every decision of the Adjudicator delivered under this 
clause 17.  

18. SURVIVAL 

18.1 The following clauses will survive termination or expiry of this Agreement:- 

Page 46



 

21 

 

18.1.1 clause 5 (Obligations of the Grant Recipient) to the extent the obligations 
continue to be capable of being met; 

18.1.2 clause 6 (Project Works); 

18.1.3 clause 10 (Corrections); 

18.1.4 clause 11 (Provisions Relating to Assets); 

18.1.5 clause 12 (Monitoring and Reporting); 

18.1.6 clause 13 (Intellectual Property); 

18.1.7 clause 14 (Public Relations and Marketing); 

18.1.8 clause 15 (State Aid); 

18.1.9 clause 16 (Events Of Default) in relation to the right to require repayment of the 
Grant only; 

18.1.10 clause 20 (Freedom of Information and Data Protection); 

18.1.11 clause 21 (Confidentiality); 

18.1.12 clause 22 (Limitation of Liability); 

18.1.13 clause 23 (insurance); 

18.1.14 clause 25 (Prevention of Bribery); 

18.1.15 clause 28 (Severance); and 

18.1.16 clause 31 (Law and Jurisdiction).  

19. VARIATION 

19.1 No variation or modification to this Agreement is valid unless it is in writing and signed by each 
of the Parties.  

20. FREEDOM OF INFORMATION AND DATA PROTECTION 

20.1 The Grant Recipient acknowledges that TVCA is required to comply with the provisions of the 
Freedom of Information Act 2000 and the Environmental Information Regulations 2004.  

20.2 The Grant Recipient agrees to assist and co-operate with TVCA as required by TVCA to enable 
TVCA to comply with its information disclosure obligations.  

20.3 The Grant Recipient acknowledges that the Commercially Sensitive Information is indicative 
only and that TVCA may be obliged to disclose it to comply with its information disclosure 
obligations.  

Page 47



 

22 

 

20.4 The Grant Recipient will not answer any request for information itself without the prior written 
consent of TVCA, but shall pass these on to TVCA at the earliest opportunity for TVCA to 
respond to. 

20.5 The Grant Recipient shall (and shall procure that any of its staff involved in connection with the 
Project shall) comply with all applicable requirements of the Data Protection Legislation which 
arise in connection with this Agreement.  

21. CONFIDENTIALITY 

21.1 Subject to clause 20 (Freedom of Information and Data Protection), each Party shall during the 
Approved Use Period and thereafter keep secret and confidential all intellectual property 
rights (as per clause 13) or other business, technical or commercial information (including the 
Commercially Sensitive Information) disclosed to it as a result of the Agreement and shall not 
disclose the same to any person save to the extent necessary to perform its obligations in 
accordance with the terms of this Agreement or save as expressly authorised in writing by the 
other Party. 

21.2 The obligation of confidentiality contained in this clause shall not apply or shall cease to apply 
to any intellectual property rights, or other business, technical or commercial information 
which:- 

21.1.1 at the time of its disclosure by the disclosing Party is already in the public domain 
or which subsequently enters the public domain other than by breach of the 
terms of this Agreement by the receiving Party; or 

21.1.2 is already known to the receiving Party as evidenced by written records at the 
time of its disclosure by the disclosing Party and was not otherwise acquired by 
the receiving Party from the disclosing Party under any obligations of confidence; 
or 

21.1.3 is at any time after the date of this Agreement acquired by the receiving Party 
from a third party having the right to disclose the same to the receiving Party 
without breach of the obligations owed by that Party to the disclosing Party. 

22. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY  

22.1 TVCA accepts no liability for any consequences, whether direct or indirect, that may come 
about from the Grant Recipient running the Project, the use of the Grant or from withdrawal 
of the Grant.  The Grant Recipient shall indemnify and hold harmless TVCA, its employees, 
agents, officers or Subcontractors with respect to all claims, demands, actions, costs, expenses, 
losses, damages and all other liabilities arising from or incurred by reason of the actions and/or 
omissions of the Grant Recipient in relation to the Project, the non-fulfilment of obligations of 
the Grant Recipient under this Agreement or its obligations to third parties. 

22.2 Subject to clause 22.1, TVCA’s liability under this Agreement is limited to the payment of the 
Grant. 

Page 48



 

23 

 

23. INSURANCE 

23.1 The Grant Recipient shall effect and maintain with a reputable insurance company a policy or 
policies in respect of all risks which may be incurred by the Grant Recipient, arising out of the 
Grant Recipient's performance of the Agreement, including death or personal injury, loss of or 
damage to property (including any Assets) or any other loss (the “Required Insurances”). 

23.2 The Required Insurances referred to above include (but are not limited to):- 

23.2.1 public liability insurance with a limit of indemnity of not less than ten million 
pounds (£10,000,000) in relation to any one claim or series of claims arising from 
the Project; and 

23.2.2 employer's liability insurance with a limit of indemnity of not less than five 
million pounds (£5,000,000) in relation to any one claim or series of claims 
arising from the Project. 

23.3 The Grant Recipient shall (on request) supply to TVCA a copy of such insurance policies and 
evidence that the relevant premiums have been paid. 

24. NOTICES 

24.1 Any notices required to be given by either Party to the other shall be in writing and shall be 
served personally or sent by registered post to the address stated in this Agreement for the 
relevant Party.  

24.2 Any notice served will be deemed to have been served as follows:- 

24.2.1 notice served personally will be deemed to have been served on the day of 
delivery; and 

24.2.2 notice sent by post will be deemed to have been served forty eight (48) hours 
after it was posted.  

25. PREVENTION OF BRIBERY 

25.1 The Grant Recipient shall not, and shall procure that any employee, agent or representative of 
the Grant Recipient shall not, in connection with this Agreement or the Project, commit a 
Prohibited Act. 

25.2 The Grant Recipient warrants, represents and undertakes that it is not aware of any financial 
or other advantage being given or promised to be given to any person working for or engaged 
by TVCA. 

26. THIRD PARTY RIGHTS 

26.1 This Agreement is enforceable only by the Parties to it, by their successors in title and permitted 
assignees. Any rights of any person to enforce the terms of this Agreement pursuant to The 
Contract (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 are excluded. 

Page 49



 

24 

 

27. NO WAIVER 

27.1 Failure by any Party at any time to enforce any one or more of the provisions of this Agreement 
or to require performance by another Party of any of the provisions shall not constitute or be 
construed as a waiver of the provision or of the right at any time subsequently to enforce all 
terms and conditions of this Agreement nor affect the validity of this Agreement or any part of 
it or the right of the Parties to enforce any provision in accordance with its terms. 

28. SEVERANCE 

If any provision of this Agreement shall become or shall be declared by any court of competent 
jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable in any way, such invalidity shall not impair or affect 
any other provision all of which shall remain in full force and effect. 

29. COSTS AND EXPENSES 

29.1 The Parties have agreed to share the costs incurred by TVCA in ensuring compliance with its 
Assurance Framework in the proportions set out in the Funding Particulars.  The Grant Recipient 
notes that its share of these costs are to be deducted from the Grant as specified in the Funding 
Profile. 

29.2 Each Party shall pay their own legal and administrative costs and expenses incurred in 
connection with the negotiation, preparation, execution, completion and implementation of 
this Agreement. 

30. NO AGENCY OR PARTIESHIP 

Nothing contained in this Agreement, and no action taken by the Parties pursuant to this 
Agreement, will be deemed to constitute a formal partnership, joint venture, principal and 
agent or employer and employee.  No Party has, nor may it represent that it has, any authority 
to act or make any commitments on any other Party’s behalf. 

31. LAW AND JURISDICTION 

This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of England and shall be subject to the exclusive 
jurisdiction of the English Courts. 

Page 50



 

25 

 

APPENDIX 1 to Part 3 – Definitions and Interpretation  

1. In this Agreement, unless the context otherwise requires:- 

1.1. references to any individual includes his or her personal representatives and successors by law 
and references to 'TVCA' include its permitted assigns; 

1.2. reference to any statute or statutory provision includes a reference to that statute or provision 
as from time to time amended, extended, re­enacted or consolidated and all statutory 
instruments or orders made pursuant to it; 

1.3. words denoting the singular shall include the plural and vice versa, words denoting any gender 
include all genders, and words denoting persons shall include firms and corporations and vice 
versa; and 

1.4. references to clauses and clause headings are for convenience only; and 

1.5. the following expressions shall have the following meanings:- 

“Agreed Completion 
Date” 

means the date specified in the Funding Particulars or such other date 
as may be agreed in writing by TVCA for the completion of the Project; 

“Agreed Purpose” means the purpose for which the Grant may be used by the Grant 
Recipient as specified in the Funding Particulars; 

“Agreed Outputs” means the outputs or deliverables that the Grant Recipient has agreed 
to deliver as part of the Project as specified in the Funding Particulars; 

“Agreement” means the documents setting out TVCA’s agreement to provide (and 
the Grant Recipient’s agreement to accept) the Grant, consisting of the 
following documents which are to be read as one document:- 

a) Part 1 – the Offer Letter; 

b) Part 2 – the Funding Particulars;  

c) Part 3 – the Standard Funding Terms; and 

d) Part 4 – the Application Form; 

and in the event of conflict between any of the Parts of the Agreement, 
the Parts shall have the order of precedence set out above; 

“Application 
Approval Date” 

means the date specified in the Funding Particulars, or such other date 
as may be agreed in writing by TVCA; 

“Application Form” means the application form submitted by the Grant Recipient to TVCA 
attached at Part 4 of this Agreement which sets out the purposes for 
which the Grant was sought; 

Page 51



 

26 

 

“Approved Use” means approved use of the Asset as set out in the Funding Particulars; 

“Approved Use 
Period” 

means the period set out in the Funding Particulars; 

“Asset” means any asset being funded in whole or in part by the Grant as 
described in the Application Form which may be either a Fixed Asset or a 
Major Asset as appropriate in the relevant context and Assets shall be 
construed accordingly; 

“Asset Register 
Template” 

means the asset register template notified by TVCA to the Grant 
Recipient; 

“Assurance 
Framework Costs” 

means the amount of the reasonable costs incurred by TVCA as set out 
in the Funding Particulars in complying with the Tees Valley Single Pot 
Assurance Framework to ensure accountable and transparent decision 
making, appraise projects and monitor and evaluate schemes to 
achieve value for money and ensure that TVCA funds are spent 
lawfully; 

“Audit” means and inspection and verification of the accounts conducted by an 
independent qualified accountant; 

“Certificate of Title” means a certificate of title evidencing the Grant Recipient's title to the 
Site of the Works in the form required and notified by TVCA; 

“Change” means in relation to the Project as defined in the Application any of the 
following changes:- 

a) a change in the Ownership, Control and Nature of Business of 
the Grant Recipient; 

b) a change in the nature or purpose of the Project; 

c) any change to the Eligible Expenditure; 

d) any change to the Expenditure Profile; 

e) any change to any of the Key Milestone Dates; 

f) any change to any of the Agreed Outputs; or 

g) any material change to the Project Specifications (that is, more 
than merely trivial and inconsequential in its consequences); 

“Claim” means the submission of a Claim Form by the Grant Recipient to TVCA 
at the intervals agreed in the Funding Profile; 

Page 52



 

27 

 

“Claim Form” means the form provided to the Grant Recipient by TVCA to request 
draw down of the Grant; 

“Claim 
Requirements” 

means the requirements which trigger each payment of the Grant as 
set out in clause 8 (Payment of Grant) and the Funding Particulars 
(where relevant) or as subsequently notified to the Grant Recipient; 

“Commercially 
Sensitive 
Information” 

any information identified by the Grant Recipient in the Funding 
Particulars as being of a commercially sensitive nature, which, if 
disclosed by TVCA would cause the Grant Recipient significant 
commercial disadvantage or material financial loss; 

“Completion” means completion of the Project Activities to the satisfaction of the 
TVCA; 

“Conditions” means the terms and conditions upon which the Grant is payable as 
contained in clause 8 of the main body of this Capital Funding 
Agreement; 

“Consents” includes any approval, consent, exemption, licence, permission or 
registration by or from any governmental or other authority or other 
person to enable the Project to be lawfully commenced, carried out 
and/or maintained; 

“Control” control as defined by section 416 of the Income and Corporation Taxes 
Act 1988; 

“Corrections” means an amount to be repaid or withheld from the Grant payable as 
determined following the finding of an Irregularity in accordance with 
clause 10;  

“Data Protection 
Legislation” 

means the UK Data Protection Legislation and (for so long as and to the 
extent that the law of the European Union has legal effect in the UK) 
the GDPR and any other directly applicable European Union regulation 
relating to privacy; 

“Delivery Partner” means a third party that (in collaboration with the Grant Recipient) 
shall deliver the Project, itself defray expenditure to be claimed and 
carry out the Project Activities and which third party is not intended by 
either Party to be providing services or works under a contract for 
services or works; 

“Digital Outputs” all material created in or copied into digital format by or for the Grant 
Recipient in connection with the Project, including all advice, reports, 
studies and other documentation prepared or commissioned by the 
Grant Recipient in connection with the Project; 

“Disposal” means the disposal, sale, transfer or the grant of any estate or interest 
in any Asset including a Lease Disposal, where relevant in the context, 
and includes the creation of any charge, legal mortgage, debenture, 

Page 53



 

28 

 

lien or other encumbrance and any contract for a disposal and 
‘Dispose’ shall be construed accordingly; 

“Eligible 
Expenditure” 

means the costs relating to the Project that the Grant can be used to 
fund as set out in the Funding Particulars; 

“Event of Default” means any of the events described in clause 16.2; 

“Expenditure Profile” means the information provided by the Grant Recipient detailing the 
spend forecast for the carrying out of the Project Activities and defrayal 
of expenditure from the Application Approval Date to the Agreed 
Completion Date as set out in the Funding Particulars; 

“Financial Year” means 1 April to 31 March;  

“Fixed Asset” means any Asset which consists of land and/or buildings, plant, 
machinery or other thing that is, or is to be, fixed to any land and which 
is to be acquired, developed, enhanced, constructed and/or installed 
as part of the Project; 

“Funding Particulars” means the document detailing the specific core terms agreed between 
the Grant Recipient and TVCA in respect of the provision of the Grant 
at Part 2 of this Agreement; 

“Funding Profile” means how and when the Grant shall be defrayed to the Grant 
Recipient as specified in the Funding Particulars; 

“GDPR” means the General Data Protection Regulation ((EU) 2016/679);  

“Governing Body” means the governing body of the Grant Recipient including its Directors 
or Trustees; 

“Grant” means the monies to be provided to the Grant Recipient by TVCA for 
the Agreed Purposes; 

“Grant Claim” means a claim for Grant in accordance with clause 8; 

“Grant Recipient” means the Party named in the Offer Letter;  

“Irregularity” means an infringement of a provision of community law (including 
State Aid Law and the EU Procurement Requirements) resulting from 
an act or omission by a Grant Recipient or a Delivery Partner (and/or 
its agents and Subcontractors), which has, or would have, the effect of 
prejudicing the general budget of the TVCA by charging an unjustified 
item of expenditure to the general budget as determined following an 
Audit;  

Page 54



 

29 

 

“Key Milestone” means any milestone(s) which the Grant Recipient is required to meet 
with regard to delivering the Project and/or the Agreed Outputs as 
specified in the Funding Particulars; 

“Law” means any applicable Act of Parliament, subordinate legislation within 
the meaning of section 21(1) of the Interpretation Act 1978, exercise 
of the Royal Prerogative, enforceable community right within the 
meaning of section 2 of the European Communities Act 1972, bye-law, 
regulatory policy, guidance or industry code, judgement of a relevant 
court of law, or directives or requirements of any regulatory body of 
which the Grant Recipient is bound to comply; 

“Lease Disposal” means the grant of a Market Rent Lease; 

“Logo” means the logo for TVCA, the Tees Valley Mayor and HM Government 
as follows (and must be reproduced in colour):- 

 

“Long Lease” means a lease for a term equal to or exceeding ninety nine (99) years 
granted at a premium and reserving either a peppercorn or a nominal 
rent but which is not a Market Rent Lease;  

“Losses” all costs, actions, demands, expenses, losses, damages, claims, 
proceedings, awards, fines, orders and other liabilities (including 
reasonable legal and other professional fees and expense) whenever 
and however arising; 

“Major Asset” means an Asset which is not a Fixed Asset but has a value as at the date 
of this Funding Agreement (or date of acquisition if the acquisition is 
funded (in whole or in part) by this Grant) of at least £5,000.00 (five 
thousand pounds); 

“Market Rent Lease” means any lease which is granted at a full market rent namely not for 
a nominal rent or at a significant undervalue;   

“Match Funding” means the contribution to the Project to meet the balance of Eligible 
Expenditure not supported by Grant and the Match Funding details are 
contained in the Funding Particulars; 

“Monitoring Period” means the period specified in the Funding Particulars or such other 
period as may be agreed in wring by TVCA; 

“Offer Letter” means the letter to the Grant Recipient offering the Grant forming Part 
1 of this Agreement;  

Page 55



 

30 

 

“Ownership, Control 
and Nature of 
Business” 

shall be construed in accordance with section 840 of the Income and 
Corporation Taxes Act 1988 and section 1162 of the Companies Act 
2006 and for the avoidance of doubt shall include an evaluation of 
dominant influence and shadow directorships in the Grant Recipient 
from time to time; 

“Party” means the Grant Recipient or the TVCA as appropriate and ‘Parties’ 
means both the Grant Recipient and the TVCA;  

“Payment Date” means the date or dates given in the Funding Profile for the payment 
of the Grant or any part of it;  

“Payment Period” means the period from one Payment Date to the next consecutive 
Payment Date;  

“Permitted Security” any charge, legal mortgage, debenture, lien or other encumbrance 
over any Asset which has been approved by TVCA the details of which 
are set out fully in the Funding Particulars; 

“Planned Disposal” means a Lease Disposal of any Fixed Asset (or any part of the Fixed 
Asset) or the grant of a licence to occupy by the Grant Recipient which 
is intended as a planned step in the implementation of the Project, was 
referred to as such in the Application, and the details of which are set 
out fully in the Funding Particulars; 

“Preconditions” means the Conditions Precedent in clause 3 and any other conditions 
which the Grant Recipient is required to meet prior to the Grant being 
paid by TVCA as set out in the Funding Particulars;  

“Preliminary 
Expenditure” 

means Eligible Expenditure in relation to site investigation works, site 
surveys, environmental appraisals and/or feasibility studies carried out 
in relation to the Project; 

“Prohibited Act” means any offence under the Bribery Act 2010 or any other legislation 
creating offences concerning fraudulent acts;  

“Project” means the Project in relation to which the Grant has been provided as 
described in the Funding Particulars;  

“Project Activities” means all activities to be carried out in implementing the Project and 
includes any Works to be carried out in relation to any Fixed Assets; 

“Project 
Specifications” 

means the drawings and specifications describing the Works which 
have been approved by TVCA in writing, or such revised drawings and 
specifications as TVCA may from time to time approve in accordance 
with the provisions of this Funding Agreement; 

Page 56



 

31 

 

“Site” means the land registered in favour of the Grant Recipient under the 
title numbers referred to in the Certificate of Title including any part 
thereof and also includes any estate or interest therein; 

“Standard Funding 
Terms” 

means TVCA’s Standard Terms and Conditions of Funding attached at 
this Part 3 of this Agreement;   

“State Aid Law” means the law embodied in Articles 107 -109 of Section 2, Title VII, of 
the Common Rules on Competition, Taxation and Approximation of 
Laws- Consolidated Versions of the Treaty on European Union and the 
Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union' (2008/C 115/01); 

“Sustainable 
Development” 

means social progress which recognises the needs of everyone, 
effective protection of the environment, prudent use of natural 
resources and economic development that is inclusive, efficient and 
stable; 

“Term” means the period from the Application Approval Date to the Agreed 
Completion Date;  

“TVCA” means Tees Valley Combined Authority of Cavendish House, Teesdale 
Business Park, Stockton on Tees, TS17 6QY;  

“UK Data Protection 
Legislation” 

means any data protection legislation from time to time in force in the 
UK including the Data Protection Act 1998 or 2018 or any successor 
legislation; 

“Value Added Tax 
(VAT)” 

value added tax chargeable under the Value Added Tax Act 1994 and 
any similar replacement or additional tax; and 

“Works” means any works of construction and/or demolition and/or 
remediation and/or any other works in relation to a Fixed Asset which 
are described in the Project Specifications. 

 

  

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Improving Alleyways by Tackling Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour
	Impact Assessment - Improving Alleyways by tackling Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour. 12.02.2021

	4 Future Development of Middlehaven
	Appendix I - Middlehaven Boundary and BHF Plots
	Sheets and Views
	A1


	Appendix II - Current Offer Letter


